

Semi-Empirical Nonlinear Site Amplification and its Application in NEHRP Site Factors

Jonathan P. Stewart Emel Seyhan Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering University of California, Los Angeles

PEER 2013/13 NOVEMBER 2013

Disclaimer

The opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the study sponsor(s) or the Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center.

Semi-Empirical Nonlinear Site Amplification and its Application in NEHRP Site Factors

Jonathan P. Stewart, Ph.D., P.E. Emel Seyhan, Ph.D. Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

University of California, Los Angeles

PEER Report 2013/13 Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center College of Engineering University of California, Berkeley

November 2013

ABSTRACT

Site factors are used to modify ground motions from a reference rock site condition to reflect the influence of geologic conditions at the site of interest. Site factors typically have a small-strain (linear) site amplification that captures impedance and resonance effects coupled with nonlinear components. Site factors in current NEHRP *Provisions* are empirically-derived at relatively small ground motion levels and feature simulation-based nonlinearity. We show that NEHRP site factors have discrepancies with respect to the site terms in the 2008 Next Generation Attenuation (NGA) ground motion prediction equations, both in the linear site amplification (especially for Classes B, C, D, and E) and the degree of nonlinearity (Classes C and D). The misfits are towards larger linear site factors and stronger nonlinearity in the NEHRP factors. The differences in linear site factors result largely from their normalization to a reference average shear wave velocity in the upper 30 m (V_{S30}) of about 1050 m/sec, whereas the reference velocity for current application is 760 m/sec. We show that the levels of nonlinearity in the NEHRP factors are generally stronger than simulation- and empirically-based models used in the original (2008) Next Generation Attenuation (NGA) project.

We analyze the NGA-West 2 data set to evaluate site amplification both with respect to V_{S30} -scaling and nonlinearity. The motivation of this analysis was to support the development of a proposal for revising the NEHRP site factors and a site amplification model that is used in an NGA-West 2 GMPE (Boore et al., 2014; BEA14). The development of that site amplification model is described by Seyhan and Stewart (2014; SS14); this report presents supporting work that guided model development relative to regional variations in site amplification and levels of nonlinearity implied by simulations.

We investigated regional trends in V_{S30} -scaling and found the presence of such trends to be sensitive to data selection criteria. When only data at fault distances under 80 km were selected (motivated by avoiding complications from regional variations in anelastic attenuation), we found strong regional site amplification trends, with the Japanese data showing markedly weaker V_{S30} -scaling than other regions at short periods. Regional variations are less significant at mid- and long-periods. When data from greater distances were considered (up to approximately 400 km) with appropriate corrections for regional variations in anelastic attenuation, regional variations in V_{S30} -scaling are diminished to the point that the proposed site amplification model (in SS14) does not include a regional term.

We investigated the regionalization of nonlinearity in site amplification using NGA-West 2 data. While modest between-region variations are present in the data, the trends were not considered sufficiently robust to be included in the site amplification model. Levels of nonlinearity evaluated empirically were found to generally be similar to those implied by a simulation-based model (Kamai et al., 2014; KEA14), except for pseudo spectral accelerations at periods between 0.5 and 3.0 sec where the data exhibits more nonlinearity than is evident from the simulations. Both the empirical- and simulation-based nonlinearities were considered in the development of the nonlinear component of the SS14 site amplification model.

The complete site amplification model (for V_{S30} -scaling and nonlinearity) is used to derive new NEHRP site factors using a reference velocity of 760 m/sec. For relatively weak levels of shaking, the new NEHRP site factors are generally smaller than current values due to the change in reference velocity from 1050 to 760 m/sec. For stronger shaking levels and Class C and D soils, the new site factors are close to, or exceed, those used currently because of reduced levels of nonlinearity, especially at long period (i.e., in the F_v parameter). Factors for soft soil (Class E) were set conservatively, as were the original NEHRP site factors, to account for larger epistemic uncertainty in the nonlinearity for this site class as compared to others. Other than Class E, the new NEHRP site factors match the BEA14 site terms nearly exactly and are generally consistent with site amplification models in other NGA-West 2 GMPEs as well. The new site factors have been approved by the Provisions Update Committee of the Building Seismic Safety Council and are expected to appear in the 2015 version of the NEHRP *Provisions*.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was sponsored by the Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center (PEER) and funded by the California Earthquake Authority, California Department of Transportation, and the Pacific Gas & Electric Company. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the above mentioned agencies. This work described in this report benefitted from the constructive discussions among the NGA-West 2 Task 8 working group consisting of Donald Anderson (CH2MHill, Seattle, WA), Roger D. Borcherdt (USGS Menlo Park, CA), Yousef Bozorgnia (PEER Center, Berkeley, CA), Kenneth W. Campbell (EQECAT, Beaverton, OR), C.B. Crouse (URS, Seattle, WA), Robert W. Graves, (USGS, Pasadena, CA), I.M. Idriss (Santa Fe, NM), Maurice S. Power (AMEC, Oakland, CA), Thomas Shantz (Caltrans, Sacramento, CA), and Walter J. Silva (PEA, El Cerrito, CA). We thank all of the committee members for their dedicate efforts on behalf of this project.

CONTENTS

ABST	RACT		iii
ACKN	NOWL	EDGMENTS	V
TABL	LE OF	CONTENTS	vii
LIST	OF FIG	GURES	ix
LIST	OF TA	BLES	. xiii
1	INTRODUCTION		
	1.1	Project Objectives and Scope	1
	1.2	Report Organization	2
2	BASIS OF SITE FACTORS IN CURRENT NEHRP PROVISIONS AND NGA MODELS		
	2.1	Site Factors in NEHRP Provisions	3
		2.1.1 Empirical Basis for Weak Motion NEHRP Site Factors2.1.2 Theoretical Basis for Nonlinearity in NEHRP Site Factors	5
	2.2	Site Factors in NGA Models	10
3	DIFF	ERENCES BETWEEN NEHRP AND NGA FACTORS	13
3.1 Site Factors Comparison		Site Factors Comparison	13
	3.2	Evaluation of Nonlinearity in Simulation-Based Site Factors	20
	3.3	Conclusions	22
4	NONI SIMU	LINEAR SITE AMPLIFICATION FROM DATA AND LATIONS	25
	4.1	Nonlinear Site Amplification Model	25
		4.1.1 Model Equations4.1.2 Model Development	25 26
	4.2	Constraint of Parameters Using Simulation-Based Model	27
	4.3	Regional Variations of Site Amplification	31
		4.3.1 Nonlinear Component of Model4.3.2 Linear Component of Model	31 37
	4.4	Comparison to Site Terms in Other NGA-West 2 GMPEs	44

5	DEVELOPMENT OF REVISED NEHRP SITE FACTORS		47
	5.1	The Process	47
	5.2	Decision Points in Working Group Deliberations	48
	5.3	Updated NEHRP Factors	49
6	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS		55
	6.1	Research Objectives and Scope	55
	6.2	Principal Findings	55
	6.3	Recommendations for Future Research	56
REFI	EREN	CES	55

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Site factors F_a and F_v in NEHRP Provisions (BSSC 2003)	4
Figure 2.2	Map of San Francisco Bay region, showing locations of 34 of 37 free-field stations that recorded 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake and generalized geologic units. KJf corresponds to Franciscan formation bedrock of Cretaceous and Jurassic age that was taken as reference rock. Borcherdt and Glassmoyer (1994).	6
Figure 2.3	Site factors F_a and F_v evaluated from reference site approach from recordings of 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake as function of V_{s30} [data from Borcherdt, (1994b)]. The reference motion amplitude for the data is PGA _r = 0.1g. Red stepped lines correspond to site factors in site class intervals.	7
Figure 2.4	(a) Short-period F_a ; and (b) mid-period F_v amplification factors. Parameters m_a and m_v are slopes of the amplification factors with V_{s30} in log-log space; PGA_r corresponds to the input ground motion level on rock in units of g (Dobry et al. 2000). Reported slopes from Borcherdt (1994a, b)	9
Figure 2.5	Examples of the site factors computed by WEA08 and parametric fits to the analysis results. Adapted from WEA08	12
Figure 3.1	Histogram of measured V_{s30} values for strong motion sites used in this study	15
Figure 3.2	Histogram of V_{s30} values within Site Classes C-D	15
Figure 3.3	Comparison of original and adjusted NEHRP site factors to site factors from NGA relationships averaged across corresponding period ranges (0.1–0.5 sec for F_a ; 0.4–2.0 sec for F_y).	17
Figure 3.4	Variation of site amplification with V_{s30}	19
Figure 3.5	Comparison of short-period F_a (0.2 sec) and mid-period F_v (1.0 sec) amplification factors between Dobry et al. (2000) and WEA08 (PEN model). Results show flatter nonlinear relationship in the WEA08 model for $V_{s30} > 270$ m/sec.	20
Figure 3.6	Comparison of short-period F_a (0.2 sec) and mid-period F_v (1.0 sec) amplification factors between Dobry et al. (2000) and Walling (personal communication, 2011) (EPRI model).	21
Figure 3.7	Comparison of modulus reduction and damping curves from Dobry et al. (1994), Seed et al. (1984), and WEA08 (PEN model). S84 means Seed et al. (1984), SI70 represents Seed and Idriss (1970), and VS91 comes from Vucetic and Dobry (1991).	22
Figure 3.8	Trend of residuals with <i>PHA_r</i> [from Kwok and Stewart (2006)]	23

Figure 4.1(a)	Site amplification as function of V_{S30} , period, and PGA_r from simulation- based model of KEA14; PEN modulus reduction and damping curves.	
Figure 4.1(b)) Site amplification as function of V_{S30} , period, and PGA_r from simulation- based model of KEA14; EPRI modulus reduction and damping curves	
Figure 4.2	Variation of slope f_2 with V_{S30} from NGA-West 2 data, KEA14 simulation results (using modulus reduction curves labeled PEN for Peninsular range and EPRI), and SS14 model	
Figure 4.3	Variation of additive term f_3 in site amplification function with period from empirical data analysis (to minimize residuals) and from model of KEA1431	
Figure 4.4	Variation of site amplification factors with PGA_r within site categories for California portion of data set. Discrete symbols are within-event residuals $[R_{ij}, Equation (4.5)]$, solid lines are nonlinear regional fit from Equation (4.3), dotted lines are global fit from SS14	
Figure 4.5	Variation of site amplification factors with <i>PGA_r</i> within site categories for Japan. See Figure 4.4 caption for further explanation of symbols34	
Figure 4.6	Variation of site amplification factors with <i>PGA_r</i> within site categories for Taiwan. See Figure 4.4 caption for further explanation of symbols35	
Figure 4.7	Dependence of slope (f_2) with V_{S30} for various regions along with SS14 model	
Figure 4.8(a)	Variation of linearized site amplification [Equation (4.6)] with V_{S30} and their binned means (and 95% confidence intervals) for subsets of data from California, Japan, and Taiwan. Trend lines for global data set shown for V_{S30} $< V_c$ and marked as SS14. Data points selected using more restrictive criteria ($R_{JB} < 80$ km) also shown. Slope values (c) listed for linear fit through grey (all points) and blue (more restrictive) data sets	
Figure 4.8(b)	Variation of linearized site amplification [Equation (4.6)] with V_{S30} for subsets of data from Medeteranean regions and China40	
Figure 4.9	Variation of slope (<i>c</i>) with spectral periods for combined data set and various regions using (a) SS14 data selection criteria and (b) restricting data sites with $R_{JB} < 80$ km	
Figure 4.10	Variation of site amplification factors with V_{S30} (measured only) for combined data set and subsets from California, Japan, and Taiwan. Blue solid line: \pm 95% CI, red solid line: Median fit for $V_{S30} < V_c$	
Figure 4.11	Variation of site amplification with V_{S30} for Chi Chi Taiwan Class 1 (CL1) events (mainshocks) and Class 2 (CL2) events (aftershocks)	
Figure 4.12	Comparison of site terms in NGA-West 2 GMPE normalized to a common reference site condition of $V_{ref} = 760$ m/sec along with current NEHRP site factors, which have a reference condition of 1050 m/sec. Site factors from NGA relationships are averaged across corresponding period ranges (0.1–0.5 sec for F_a ; 0.4–2.0 sec for F_v) using equally spaced periods on a log scale45	

Figure 5.1	Comparison of proposed and current NEHRP site factors with site terms in NGA-West 2 GMPEs normalized to a common reference site condition of	
	$V_{ref} = 760 \text{ m/sec}.$	51
Figure 5.2	Recommended NEHRP site factors for F_a and F_v as function of V_{S30}	52

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1	NGA-West2 Task 8 working group	2
Table 2.1	Site Classes in NEHRP Provisions (Martin 1994)	3
Table 4.1	Values of f_2 for KEA14 model based on fit using Equation (4.3).	29
Table 5.1	Representative median V_{S30} values in NEHRP categories	50
Table 5.2	Original (ASCE) and updated (PEER) site amplification factors F_a , F_v , and F_{PGA} . PEER values are rounded to the nearest 0.1 for application in the	
	NEHRP Provisions.	53

1 Introduction

1.1 PROJECT OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE

The site factor terms in Next Generation Attenuation (NGA) ground motion prediction equations (GMPEs) express the effect of shallow site conditions on various ground motion intensity measures (IMs) as a function of V_{s30} . The parameter V_{s30} represents the average shear wave velocity of a site in the upper 30 m, and is computed as the ratio of 30 m to shear wave travel time through the upper 30 m of the site. Site factors in the NEHRP *Provisions*, which are used in building codes world-wide and also in financial loss modeling for insurance applications, are based on site categories derived from V_{s30} .

In both the NGA-West 1 and NGA-West 2 projects, the site factors are based on a combination of numerical simulations and empirical data analysis, with the empirical data derived from relatively large databases (Chiou et al. 2008; Ancheta et al. 2014). In contrast, the NEHRP site factors are based on a very small database of recordings in the San Francisco Bay Area from the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake, which establishes relatively weak motion amplification empirically, in combination with nonlinear effects established from numerical simulations (Dobry et al. 2000). Not surprisingly, experience in practice and from some preliminary research (e.g., Mark Petersen, personal communication, 2008; Huang et al. 2010) indicates that the NGA and NEHRP site factors have some discrepancies, and those discrepancies have been shown to be consequential for loss estimation and other applications [e.g., Cao et al. (2003) and Rowshandel et al. (2005)]. An important objective of this project was to identify those discrepancies for the IMs of interest in the NGA-West 2 project and propose new site factors for application in NEHRP that will resolve the differences. The project team has worked in coordination with the NEHRP Provisions Update Committee (PUC) in this regard, and a proposal for revision of the NEHRP Provisions and Commentary was submitted and ultimately approved by the PUC.

Additional, related objectives of this project were to support the development of NGA-West 2 ground motion prediction equations (GMPEs) through both database work and data analysis related to nonlinear site response. The database work was concentrated on the development of an improved site database (relative to the version used in NGA-West 1), specifically in reference to incorporating the results of additional site characterization efforts, providing more complete reporting of site proxies used for V_{s30} estimation, and testing of proxy performance, providing recommended V_{s30} values with appropriate justification, and other issues (e.g., station housing, modified treatment of basin depth). The work on proxies has led to evidence-based protocols for estimating V_{s30} for sites without geophysical measurements and associated uncertainties. The results of the database work are provided in Seyhan et al. (2014).

The data analysis work utilized of the NGA-West 2 data to evaluate the dependence of site amplification on V_{S30} and nonlinear effects, and the regional variations of such effects. We worked closely with other NGA GMPE developers in this process in support of GMPE model development. The work has led to a site amplification model with two terms representing V_{S30} -scaling and nonlinear effects; details on the development of that model are presented by Boore et al. (2013; 2014) (BEA13, BEA14) and Seyhan and Stewart (2014) (SS14). The site amplification terms proposed for use in revising the NEHRP *Provisions* are computed on the basis of the SS14 model by averaging across applicable period ranges.

The NGA-West 2 Task 8 working group members are listed in Table 1.1. The members of the working group provided detailed technical input throughout the project and hence helped to shape the materials presented in the report.

Graduate student	Emel Seyhan, UCLA
	C. B. Crouse, URS Corporation, Seattle, WA
	Donald Anderson, CH2MHill, Bellevue, WA
	I. M. Idriss, Santa Fe, NM
	Kenneth W. Campbell, EQECAT, Beaverton, OR
Project team	Maury S. Power, AMEC, Oakland, CA
	Robert W. Graves, USGS, Pasadena, CA
	Roger D. Borcherdt, USGS, Menlo Park, CA
	Walter J. Silva, PEA, El Cerrito, CA
	Thomas Shantz, Caltrans, Sacramento, CA
Principal Investigator Jonathan P. Stewart, UCLA	
Project Director	Yousef Bozorgnia, PEER, Berkeley, CA

Table 1.1NGA-West2 Task 8 working group.

1.2 REPORT ORGANIZATION

This report has six chapters. Chapter 2 presents technical background information on the site amplification factors in the NEHRP *Provisions* and in NGA-West 1 models. Chapter 3 explains the differences between NEHRP and NGA site factors and the causes for those differences. Chapter 4 summarizes the BEA14 site amplification model and presents supporting work that guided model development relative to regional variations in site amplification and levels of nonlinearity implied by simulations. Chapter 5 is concerned with the development of a proposal for revision of the NEHRP site factors, including the relationship between the Task 8 working group and the PUC, key issues faced in working group deliberations, and the manner by which the new NEHRP site factors were developed. Finally, Chapter 6 concludes the report and describes ongoing and future work.

2 Basis of Site Factors in Current NEHRP Provisions and NGA Models

2.1 SITE FACTORS IN NEHRP PROVISIONS

The NEHRP *Provisions* and *Commentary* (BSSC 2003) provide the documentation from which seismic provisions in building codes are periodically updated. One important aspect of the NEHRP *Provisions* and *Commentary* is the specification of design-basis ground motions, which are derived for rock site conditions at 0.2 sec and 1.0 sec period from probabilistic seismic hazard analysis (PSHA) and then modified by site factors. The PSHA-based rock site ground motions used in building codes are mapped by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) (http://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/). In the 2008 version of the maps, the reference site condition is specified as $V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec, where V_{s30} is the average shear wave velocity computed as the ratio of 30 m to shear wave travel time through the upper 30 m of the site.

As shown in Table 2.1, NEHRP site factors are based on site classes derived from V_{s30} . An exception to the V_{s30} criteria is made for soft clays (defined as having undrained shear strength < 24 kPa, plasticity index > 0.20, and water content > 0.40), for which Class E is assigned if the thickness of soft clay exceeds 3 m regardless of V_{s30} . The site factors are intended to modify ground motion relative to the reference condition used in development of the PSHA maps, which is at the boundary between Classes B and C ($V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec).

NEHRP Category	Description	Mean Shear Wave Velocity to 30 m
А	Hard rock	>1500 m/s
В	Firm to hard rock	760–1500 m/s
С	Dense soil, soft rock	360–760 m/s
D	Stiff soil	180–360 m/s
E	Soft clays	<180 m/s
F	Special study soils, e.g., liquefiable soils, sensitive clays, organic soils, soft clays >36 m thick	

Table 2.1Site Classes in NEHRP Provisions (Martin 1994).

Figure 2.1 presents the short- and long-period NEHRP site factors (BSSC 2003) F_a and F_v , which depend on both site class and intensity of motion on reference rock. The ground motion parameters for the reference site condition used with site factors are: (1) S_s - the pseudo spectral acceleration (PSA) at 0.2 sec (used with F_a); and (2) S_I – pseudo spectral acceleration (PSA) at 1 sec (used with F_v).



Figure 2.1 Site factors F_a and F_v in NEHRP Provisions (BSSC 2003).

Some physical processes underlying the trends in the NEHRP site factors shown in Figure 2.1 are as follows:

- 1. Site factors decrease with increasing V_{s30} . This effect is related to the impedance contrast between the shallow soil sediments and the underlying stiffer sediments and rock. Slow velocities in shallow sediments will amplify weak- to moderate-amplitude input motions, especially near the fundamental frequency of the soil column.
- 2. Site factors decrease with increasing S_s or S_1 and the rate of decrease is fastest for soft soils. As ground motion amplitude increases, the shear strains in the soil increase, causing increased hysteretic damping in the soil. The increased damping dissipates energy and reduces ground motion levels. Because softer sediments develop larger strains than stiffer sediments, this effect is most pronounced for Class E and is less significant for stiffer sites.
- 3. Site factor F_a (short periods) decreases more rapidly with increasing S_s than does F_v with S_I . The damping effect described in (2) acts on each cycle of ground motion. High-frequency ground motions will have larger fractions of wavelengths within the soil column than low-frequency motions. Because the soil has more opportunity to influence high-frequency motions, it produces greater nonlinearity.

Site factors can be developed using theoretical and empirical approaches. Existing NEHRP site factors were developed empirically for relatively low input rock ground motions (peak accelerations or S_l near 0.1g) and have levels of nonlinearity derived from simulations. Additional details on the development of NEHRP factors utilizing empirical and theoretical methods are given in the following sections. Justification for the use of V_{s30} as a site parameter is beyond the scope of this report, but is discussed elsewhere, including Stewart et al. (2001).

2.1.1 Empirical Basis for Weak Motion NEHRP Site Factors

The empirical basis for the relatively weak motion NEHRP site factors was developed by Borcherdt (1994b), Borcherdt and Glassmoyer (1994), and Joyner et al. (1994), who examined ground motions from the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake recorded on a variety of site conditions varying from soft clay to rock in the San Francisco Bay Area. Site conditions at recording sites were generally characterized using bore-hole seismic-velocity measurements. A reference site approach was used in which Fourier spectral ratios were calculated for pairs of stations in which one is on soil and one is on reference rock. Figure 2.2 shows a map of the rock and soil sites considered by Borcherdt and Glassmoyer (1994) (BG94). For a particular period T and rock-soil site pair, the site factor determined by this method is:

$$F(T) = \frac{FA_{V_{s30}}(T)}{FA_{ref}(T)}$$
(2.1)

where $FA_{V_{s30}}$ (*T*) is the Fourier amplitude at period *T* from a recording on a site condition with velocity V_{s30} , and FA_{ref} (*T*) is a recording from a neighboring rock site that is taken as the reference ($V_{s30} > 760$ m/sec). Fourier amplitude spectral ratios were computed at frequency intervals of 1/40.96 sec in the frequency domain. Period-specific spectral ratios calculated from Equation (2.1) were averaged across a short period band (0.1–0.5 sec) and mid-period band (0.4–2.0 sec) to estimate F_a and F_v for each rock-soil pair. Resultant empirical estimates of F_a and F_v and the corresponding regression lines are presented in BG94 and have been reproduced in Figure 2.3. The reference rock motions used by BG94 have bedrock peak ground accelerations that range from 0.075 to 0.11g, with an average of about 0.1g.





Figure 2.3 shows the F_a and F_v factors produced by BG for each station pair plotted as a function of V_{s30} along with regression lines, 95% confidence intervals for the ordinate to the true population regression line, and the limits for two standard deviations of the estimate. The relatively narrow confidence intervals indicate that the scaling of the site terms with V_{s30} is statistically significant, but it is apparent from the trends in Figure 2.3 that the scaling is more pronounced at mid periods than at short periods. This is thought to occur because most soil sites have fundamental vibration periods within the mid-period band, producing stronger site effects in that period range than at shorter periods.



Figure 2.3 Site factors F_a and F_v evaluated from reference site approach from recordings of 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake as function of V_{s30} [data from Borcherdt, (1994b)]. The reference motion amplitude for the data is $PGA_r = 0.1g$. Red stepped lines correspond to site factors in site class intervals.

The reference sites used by BG94 correspond to a competent rock site condition, which in the San Francisco Bay Area corresponds specifically to Franciscan formation bedrock of Cretaceous and Jurassic age. The average values of V_{s30} among the reference sites is approximately 795 m/sec, but the linear trend line through the data in Figure 2.3 reaches unity at $V_{s30} = 1050$ m/sec. Hence, the linear trend line produces non-unity amplification levels at the contemporary reference condition of $V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec (B-C boundary).

In Figure 2.3 the red stepped lines correspond to F_a and F_v values in use since publication of the 1994 NEHRP *Provisions* (BSSC 1995). As shown in Figure 2.3, the NEHRP F_a and F_v factors are generally consistent with the trend of the regression lines. The stepped site factors in Figure 2.3 are slightly different from those presented by Borcherdt (1994b), which match the lines at $V_{s30} = 150$, 270, 560, and 1050 m/sec. The modifications in NEHRP factors relative to Borcherdt (1994b) are in (1) the velocity boundaries, the final values of which were selected in committee; and (2) the amplification levels for particular categories (e.g., F_a for E) that were increased by committee consensus [details in Dobry et al. (2000)]. As seen from Figure 2.3, the NEHRP factors match the regression lines at $V_{s30} = 120$, 290, 600; and 1050 m/sec (for F_a) and at 160, 290, 450, and 1050 m/sec (for F_v).

With regard to the $V_{s30} = 1050$ m/sec reference condition provided by Borcherdt (1994b) and adopted for the 1994 NEHRP *Provisions*, it is useful to recall the national ground motion maps with which the NEHRP site factors were originally applied. As described by Algermissen and Perkins (1976), the GMPE used at that time was a model for rock conditions by Schnabel and Seed (1973), which was used directly for peak acceleration in the western U.S. (nonsubduction regions) and with some modification for other conditions (i.e., other regions and longer periods, as described by Algermissen and Perkins (1976). The rock site conditions represented by the GMPE are poorly defined, although many of the motions used in GMPE development are from soil sites and were deconvolved to rock using wave propagation analysis (Schnabel et al. 1971). The rock conditions used in the deconvolution appear to have been hard ($V_s = 2400$ m/sec), whereas the motions from rock sites were associated with much softer geologic conditions. Considering that the rock GMPE represents the average of these conditions, the 1994 national maps likely applied for firm rock conditions. Therefore, we postulate that general compatibility existed between those maps and the NEHRP site factors, which in equation form are referenced to firm rock ($V_{s30} = 1050$ m/sec). By the time of the 1996 national maps (Frankel et al. 1996) as adopted by BSSC (1998), the reference condition used for the PSHA calculations was clearly defined as $V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec [e.g., Frankel et al. (1996, pgs. 5 and 17)], but the incompatibility with the reference condition for site factors was either not recognized or not considered to be significant. This condition has remained to the present time.

2.1.2 Theoretical Basis for Nonlinearity in NEHRP Site Factors

Theoretical ground response analyses generally model the stratigraphy as one-dimensional (1D) and simulate the nonlinear soil behavior using equivalent-linear or nonlinear methods. Site factors can be evaluated from ground response analysis using the ratio of response spectra at the top of the soil column to that of the outcropping base motion. Some key issues in the utilization of ground response analysis to develop site factors are: (1) the shear wave velocity profiles utilized in the analysis should be representative of the region where the site factors will be applied; (2) the selected modulus reduction and damping (MRD) curves should be appropriate for the predominant soil types; and (3) input motions should have appropriate amplitude and frequency content for the seismicity of the region. Similar considerations apply for nonlinear ground response analysis.

Borcherdt (1994b) and Dobry et al. (2000) described the process by which the ground response analysis results from equivalent linear and nonlinear methods were used to supplement the weak motion amplification levels depicted in Figure 2.3. Suites of profiles were analyzed by Seed et al. (1994) and Dobry et al. (1994) for Classes C-E using measured velocity profiles from sites in California and Mexico City. The empirical amplification values shown in Figure 2.4 were found to be in good agreement with those derived independently by Seed et al. (1994), those computed parametrically by Dobry et al. (1994) at input ground motion levels near 0.1g, and response spectral ratios computed by Joyner et al. (1994). Hence, the modeling results were used to extrapolate the inferred amplification factors to higher input peak acceleration levels of 0.2, 0.3, and 0.4g. Borcherdt (1994b) and Dobry et al. (2000) describe how the computed site factors were expressed in a linear form in log-log space as shown in Figure 2.4 and given by the following expressions:

$$F_a = \left(\frac{V_{ref}}{V_{s30}}\right)^{m_a} \tag{2.2}$$

$$F_{v} = \left(\frac{V_{ref}}{V_{s30}}\right)^{m_{v}}$$
(2.3)

where $V_{ref} = 1050$ m/sec and m_a and m_v are fit coefficients that vary with input motion amplitude to capture trends in the simulations with the results shown in the legend of Figure 2.4 (Borcherdt 1994b; Dobry et al. 2000). The black line in Figure 2.4 applies to $PGA_r = 0.1g$. For $PGA_r > 0.1g$ the amplification levels decrease in accordance with the simulation results, with the amount of decrease being greatest at low V_{s30} . Note from Figure 2.4 that these expressions for site factors are referenced to a common $V_{s30} = 1050$ m/sec. For the NEHRP site factors (Figure 2.1), the



input motion ground motion amplitude was re-expressed as S_s and S_l in lieu of PGA according to $S_s = 2.5$ PGA and $S_l = PGA$.

Figure 2.4 (a) Short-period F_a ; and (b) mid-period F_v amplification factors. Parameters m_a and m_v are slopes of the amplification factors with V_{s30} in log-log space; PGA_r corresponds to the input ground motion level on rock in units of g (Dobry et al. 2000). Reported slopes from Borcherdt (1994a, b).

Figure 2.4 also shows the NEHRP site factors plotted at the V_{s30} values for which category-based site factors were originally developed by Borcherdt (1994b), as explained previously. The NEHPR factors have some discrepancies from the regression lines, especially for F_a in Category E and F_v in Categories C-D. As mentioned previously, those discrepancies arose from committee decisions.

2.2 SITE FACTORS IN NGA MODELS

The 2008 version of the Next Generation Attenuation (NGA) project produced GMPEs for shallow crustal earthquakes in active tectonic regions (Power et al. 2008). GMPEs were developed by five teams consisting of Abrahamson and Silva (2008), Boore and Atkinson (2008), Campbell and Bozorgnia (2008), Chiou and Youngs (2008), and Idriss (2008). For ease of use, the abbreviations of AS08, BA08, CB08, CY08, and I08 are applied. The models are based on analyses of the PEER-NGA empirical strong ground motion database, which contains 3551 recordings from 173 earthquakes (Chiou et al. 2008).

The NGA models are semi-empirical equations for peak ground acceleration (PGA), peak ground velocity (PGV) and 5% damped elastic pseudo-acceleration spectra (PSA) for periods up to 10 sec. These ground motion prediction equations (GMPEs) have a typical form of:

$$\ln Y = f_1(M) + f_2(R) + f_3(F) + f_4(HW) + f_5(S) + \varepsilon_T$$
(2.4)

where Y is the median geometric mean ground motion intensity measure (IM); f_i are functions of magnitude (M), source-to-site distance (R), style of faulting (F), hanging-wall effects (HW), and site conditions (S). Parameter \mathcal{E}_T is a random error term with a mean of zero and a total aleatory standard deviation given by

$$\sigma_T = \sqrt{\sigma^2 + \tau^2} \tag{2.5}$$

where σ is the standard deviation of the intra-event residuals, and τ is the standard deviation of the inter-event residuals.

The site factors in the NGA GMPEs express the effect of shallow site conditions on various ground motion IMs as a function of V_{s30} , and in the case of the AS08, CB08, and CY08 relations, a basin depth term as well. Different NGA developers used different methods to obtain site factors. AS08 and CB08 set coefficients describing the linear site response empirically and constrain the nonlinearity in site response based on simulations by Walling et al. (2008) (WEA08). BA08 and CY08 fit the coefficients for both the linear and nonlinear components of their site amplification model empirically.

When site amplification factors are developed empirically, the process can be described as a non-reference site approach. In contrast with the reference site approach utilized by BG94, the non-reference site approach compares IMs from recordings (IM_{rec}) to median predictions from a GMPE for a reference site condition [$S_a^r(T)_{GMPE}$] as follows:

$$F(T) = \frac{\left(S_a^{\ rec}(T)\right)}{\left(S_a^{\ r}(T)_{GMPE}\right)}$$
(2.6)

Note that this approach does not require a reference site recording, hence a much larger set of ground motions can be used to develop site amplification levels, the median of which is taken as the site factor. In natural log units, $\ln F(T)$ can be viewed as the data residual relative to the rock GMPE:

$$\ln F(T) = \ln \left(S_a^{rec}(T) \right) - \ln \left(S_a^r(T)_{GMPE} \right)$$
(2.7)

The site factors are generally evaluated during the development of the GMPE in such a way as to minimize residuals.

As noted previously, the AS08 and CB08 GMPEs utilize site amplification models whose nonlinear component is set from the results of 1D ground response analyses. The ground response analyses and model building process are described in WEA08. The ground response analyses used an equivalent-linear analysis method with random vibration theory as implemented in the program RASCALS (Silva and Lee 1987). The velocity profiles were taken from a proprietary database maintained by Pacific Engineering and Analysis (PEA) for active tectonic regions. The modulus reduction and damping (MRD) curves were taken from judgment-driven relations known as the Peninsular Range curves. For each soil profile, amplification factors were computed for input rock PGA values ranging from 0.001 to 1.5g. For each case, the amplification with respect to $V_{s30} = 1100$ m/sec was computed. Example site factors for $V_{s30} = 270$ m/sec and 560 m/sec, obtained at T = 0.2 sec from this process, are plotted against PGA for $V_{s30} = 1100$ m/sec m/sec (i.e., PGA1100) in Figure 2.5. Additional calculations were performed using MRD curves from EPRI (1993), with otherwise identical conditions. Models developed from those results are unpublished but were provided by Walling (*personal communication*, 2011).



Figure 2.5 Examples of the site factors computed by WEA08 and parametric fits to the analysis results. Adapted from WEA08.

3 Differences between NEHRP and NGA Factors

3.1 SITE FACTORS COMPARISON

In this chapter we compare the NEHRP site factors with NGA-West 1 site factors derived from the four 2008 NGA GMPEs having site terms. Our objective is to identify discrepancies, with specific attention paid to evaluating differences in median amplification at low levels of rock ground motion, as well as possible differences in the nonlinearity of site amplification. In this chapter, when we refer to NGA GMPEs, we mean the 2008 version (NGA-West 1), not those associated with the NGA-West 2 project.

The NGA relations use different functional forms for the site terms. The reference rock ground motion amplitude parameter used to drive nonlinearity in the models is taken as PGA for AS08, BA08, and CB08 and as spectral acceleration at the period of interest for CY08. Site terms F_x (V_{s30} , A_x) are assumed to be log normally distributed and depend on A_x , the ground motion amplitude for a reference site condition having a particular $V_{s30} = x$. Reference motion amplitude A_x is a median PGA for AS08, BA08, and CB08, and an event-term adjusted median S_a at the period of interest for CY08. The event term (η_i) is approximately the median residual for well recorded events and is formally evaluated from random effects regression procedures (Abrahamson and Youngs 1992). To summarize, input parameters for the site amplification models are:

NEHRP: V_{s30} , S_s , S_l	
AS08: V _{s30} , Median PGA ₁₁₀₀	(PGA for V_{s30} =1100 m/sec)
BA08: <i>V</i> _{\$30} , Median <i>PGA</i> ₇₆₀	(PGA for V_{s30} =760 m/sec)
CB08: V _{s30} , Median PGA ₁₁₀₀	(PGA for V_{s30} =1100 m/sec)
CY08: V_{s30} , Median + $\eta_i (S_a)_{1130}$	$(S_a \text{ for } V_{s30} = 1130 \text{ m/sec})$

Note that the reference motions are defined for different reference rock site conditions in the GMPEs.

To facilitate comparisons between the NGA and NEHRP site factors, we compute site terms relative to the V_{s30} = 760 m/sec reference condition used in the national PSHA maps published by USGS. This condition is selected because the NEHRP factors are used to modify ground motions for site conditions that differ from the V_{s30} = 760 m/sec reference. The NGA site factors are calculated relative to this reference condition as:

$$\ln(F_{760}(V_{s30}, A_x)) = \ln(F_x(V_{s30}, A_x)) - \ln(F_x(760, A_x))$$

or

$$F_{760}(V_{s30}, A_x) = \frac{F_x(V_{s30}, A_x)}{F_x(760, A_x)}$$
(3.1)

We define the reference site motion amplitude as A_x = median PGA for V_{s30} = 760 m/sec, which is denoted PGA_r in the following text. Site factors are evaluated for PGA_r = 0.01–0.9g. The CY08 site term uses S_a at the period of interest instead of using the median PGA. For this model, reference motion amplitude is estimated from PGA_r as:

$$S_a(T=0.2 \operatorname{sec}) \approx 2.3 P G A_r \qquad S_a(T=1.0 \operatorname{sec}) \approx 0.7 P G A_r \qquad (3.2)$$

The factors of 2.3 and 0.7 in Equation (3.2) are based on differences in the median spectral ordinates (e.g., 0.2 sec S_a versus PGA) from the NGA-West 1 GMPEs for rock site conditions and typical ranges of M_w (6–8) and distance (< 30 km) that control seismic hazard. These values are updated from 2.5 and 1.0 in the original NEHRP factors. The factor S_a (1.0 sec)/PGA is significantly dependent on magnitude, and the value of 0.7 corresponds approximately to M7.0. Huang et al. (2010) use a procedure similar to that described above—instead of calculating the site term directly, they apply the NGA GMPEs for a range of magnitudes, distances, and other parameters to compute median S_a for selected V_{s30} values. They take the ratio of median S_a at V_{s30} to median S_a at 760 m/sec as a period-dependent site factor. Huang et al. (2010) average these values across three GMPEs (i.e., BA08, CB08 and CY08) and across period ranges to develop recommendations for F_a and F_v site factors.

We use the NGA-West 1 site models at representative V_{s30} values for each NEHRP category. The representative velocities are evaluated from medians within the various classes B-E using the site database compiled for the NGA-West 2 project (Ancheta et al. 2013). That database contains 1144 California and international sites with measured V_{s30} values derived from profiles 30 m or greater in depth, which are distributed as shown in Figure 3.1. The median V_{s30} values for each site class are indicated in Figure 3.1. More detailed histograms within the relatively well populated C and D classes are given in Figure 3.2. The representative category velocities given in Figure 3.1 are generally similar to those used by Borcherdt (1994b) to set the empirical site factors (i.e., 155 versus 150 m/sec for E; 266 versus 290 m/sec for D; 489 versus 540 m/sec for C; 913 versus 1050 m/sec for B) and the geometric means of the boundary end points (254 m/sec for D; 523 m/sec for C; 1070 m/sec for B).



Figure 3.1 Histogram of measured V_{s30} values for strong motion sites used in this study.



Figure 3.2 Histogram of V_{s30} values within Site Classes C-D.

Figure 3.3 compares the discrete published NEHRP site factors (black solid symbols) with NGA-West 1 site amplification terms computed for median spectral accelerations across the period range for F_a (T = 0.1-0.5 sec) and F_v (T = 0.4-2.0 sec) relative to $V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec. Adjustments to the NEHRP factors are also shown in Figure 3.3 (black open symbols), which are discussed further below. Also shown for comparison are site amplification factors from Huang et al. (2010) for Classes D and E (results for comparable V_{s30} values are not available for other site classes). Note the Huang et al. (2010) factors plotted in Figure 3.3 are averaged from their values for specific spectral periods within the respective period ranges for F_a (0.1–0.5 sec) and F_v (0.4–2.0 sec). Because the reference rock amplitudes used by Huang et al. (2010) are 0.2 sec and 1.0 sec S_a , we convert to PGA_r using S_a/PGA_r ratios in Equation (3.2), which are compatible with the magnitude and distance range selected by Huang et al. (2010).

The spread of NGA-West 1 site factors in Figure 3.3 reflects epistemic uncertainty, which is relatively large for Class E and modest elsewhere. We judged differences in NGA and NEHRP site factors to be significant when they clearly exceed the epistemic uncertainty for a given site class. In Classes C-D, NEHRP and NGA factors have different slopes for F_{ν} , indicating different levels of nonlinearity. This issue is discussed further in the following section. In Classes C and D, NEHRP and NGA site factors are in reasonable agreement for F_a . In Classes B and E, NEHRP site factors are larger than NGA factors for F_a and F_v . The NEHRP C and D factors for F_v are also larger than NGA factors for weak motions (i.e., $PGA_r = 0.1g$). The trends shown in Figure 3.3 are not changed appreciably if the V_{s30} values used to compute the NGA site factors are changed to the values selected by Borcherdt (1994b) of 150, 290, 540, and 1050 m/sec. The Huang et al. (2010) site factors are generally similar to the NGA factors shown in Figure 3.3 for Classes D and E (and hence they also have similar discrepancies relative to NEHRP). The modest differences between our site factors and those of Huang et al. (2010) likely result from variability in the S_a/PGA_r ratios used to correct the abscissa, the use of different averaging procedures (i.e., different numbers of averaged spectral periods within F_a and F_v period bands) and other details. Huang et al. (2010) also report similar discrepancies between their site factors and NEHRP factors (e.g., their Figure 2).



Figure 3.3 Comparison of original and adjusted NEHRP site factors to site factors from NGA relationships averaged across corresponding period ranges (0.1–0.5 sec for F_a ; 0.4–2.0 sec for F_v).

As mentioned previously, adjusted NEHRP factors are also shown in Figure 3.4. The adjustment is computed to re-normalize the NEHRP factors from a reference velocity of 1050 m/sec to 760 m/sec as follows:

$$F_{a}^{N} = F_{a} \left(\frac{V_{ref}}{760}\right)^{-m_{a}}, \ F_{v}^{N} = F_{v} \left(\frac{V_{ref}}{760}\right)^{-m_{v}}$$
(3.3)

where superscript 'N' indicates re-normalization, F_a and F_v are the original, published NEHRP factors, $V_{ref} = 1050$ m/sec per Borcherdt (1994b) and Dobry et al. (2000), and m_a and m_v are taken from Dobry et al. (2000) (shown in Figure 2.4). No adjustments are made at $PGA_r = 0.5g$ due to a lack of published m_a and m_v values in Figure 2.4.

Shown with the open black symbols in Figure 3.4, the re-normalized NEHRP site factors are generally in better agreement with NGA site factors. The re-normalization essentially removes all misfit for Class D; misfits for other classes remain but are generally reduced. We wish to emphasize that the 'adjusted' NEHRP factors in Figure 3.3 are not proposed for adoption in NEHRP, but are presented to demonstrate the reduction in site factors discrepancies that is possible through the use of a consistent reference rock condition (in this case, $V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec).

The variation of amplification factors with V_{s30} is also investigated to isolate the V_{s30} dependence of the amplification factors from the dependence on PGA_r . Figure 3.4 plots F_a and F_{ν} from NEHRP and NGA (based on median spectral accelerations across the period range for T = 0.1–0.5 sec for F_a ; T = 0.4–2.0 sec for F_v) versus V_{s30} for $PGA_r = 0.01g$, 0.1g, 0.3g, and 0.5g. The original and adjusted NEHRP factors are plotted at the category-averaged V_{s30} values of 155 m/sec, 266 m/sec, 489 m/sec, and 913 m/sec, corresponding to categories E, D, C, and B, respectively. The PGA_r values used in Figure 3.4, when modified to S_s and S_l per Equation (3.2), do not perfectly coincide with the tabulated NEHRP factors. Accordingly, we have interpolated as needed to produce the points in Figure 3.4. The results indicate consistent slopes of the F_a and F_v versus V_{s30} relations for $PGA_r = 0.01g$ and 0.1g. This indicates that the scaling of site factors with V_{s30} in the original BG94 and Borcherdt (1994b) relations is robust (i.e., similar V_{s30} -scaling is present in the NGA site terms). The offset between the NEHRP and NGA factors is partly due to the 1050 m/sec reference condition in the NEHRP factors. For larger PGA_r values, significant differences in site factors occur for $V_{s30} < \sim 500$ m/sec, which encompasses conditions at most soil sites. Those differences arise principally from different levels of nonlinearity, which is addressed further in the following section.



3.2 EVALUATION OF NONLINEARITY IN SIMULATION-BASED SITE FACTORS

Figure 3.5 compares the results of analytical studies presented by Dobry et al. (2000) (Figure 2.4) with the site factors derived from more comprehensive equivalent-linear analyses by WEA08, in which the "Peninsular Range" modulus reduction and damping (MRD) curves (i.e., PEN model) were used. Results are shown for the short-period band amplification factor, F_a (0.2 sec) and mid-period band amplification factor, F_v (1.0 sec). The important conclusions to draw from this comparison relate to the relative slopes of the WEA08 and Dobry et al. (2000) relations (not necessarily the vertical position of the curves). For instance, whereas the slopes for $V_{s30} = 270$ m/sec are similar, the slopes for faster velocities are flatter in the more recent work.

Figure 3.6 illustrates the same type of comparison, but the results derived from the PEN model by WEA08 are replaced with similar results provided by Walling (*personal communication*, 2011) that are derived from more nonlinear MRD curves from EPRI (1993). Using this soil model, the F_a slopes are steeper than those from Dobry et al. (2000). For F_v , the slopes are comparable at $V_{s30} = 270$ m/sec; the Walling slopes are flatter for faster velocities.



Figure 3.5 Comparison of short-period $F_a(0.2 \text{ sec})$ and mid-period $F_v(1.0 \text{ sec})$ amplification factors between Dobry et al. (2000) and WEA08 (PEN model). Results show flatter nonlinear relationship in the WEA08 model for $V_{s30} > 270$ m/sec.


Figure 3.6 Comparison of short-period F_a (0.2 sec) and mid-period F_v (1.0 sec) amplification factors between Dobry et al. (2000) and Walling (personal communication, 2011) (EPRI model).

The principal factor responsible for the varying levels of nonlinearity is different MRD models used in the ground response simulations. The Dobry et al. (2000) site factors are based on simulations by Seed et al. (1994) and Dobry et al. (1994), both of which used MRD curves from Vucetic and Dobry (1991) (i.e., VD91) for cohesive soils. For sands, Seed et al. (1994) used MRD curves from Seed et al. (1984) (i.e., S84) while Dobry et al. (1994) used the VD91 MRD curve for PI = 0. Figure 3.7 compares the PEN curves from WEA08 with the aforementioned curves that provide the basis for the Dobry et al. (2000) site factors. The PEN curves are more linear than VD91 MRD at PI = 0 and the Seed et al. (1984) MR curves, although the VD91 PI = 50 MRD curves are similar to PEN. Accordingly, the generally high nonlinearity in the MRD curves used in the studies behind the Dobry et al. (2000) amplification factors explains the relatively nonlinear site amplification terms.

The varying levels of nonlinearity in amplification factors derived from the PEN and EPRI MRD curves reflects epistemic uncertainty, in the sense that we lack knowledge regarding which set of MRD curves are most "correct" for ground response calculations. Given that the simulation results from WEA08 and Walling (*personal communication*, 2011) to some extent bracket the Dobry et al. (2000) curves (at least for F_a), we cannot conclude that the nonlinearity present in the NEHRP provisions is invalid on this basis.

However, nonlinearity from theoretical simulations can be checked against empirical data. Kwok and Stewart (2006) compared recorded ground motion recordings from various site conditions in California to predictions from rock GMPEs modified by theoretically-based site factors very similar to those of WEA08. Residuals were calculated in a manner similar to Equation 2.7, but with the rock GMPE median modified with the theoretical site factor and event term η . An example result is shown in Figure 3.8, which shows no trend in residuals versus PGA_r , indicating that the nonlinearity in the theoretical site factors captures the data trends. This comparison provides support for the more linear recent amplification factors presented by WEA08 and used in several of the NGA site terms.



Figure 3.7 Comparison of modulus reduction and damping curves from Dobry et al. (1994), Seed et al. (1984), and WEA08 (PEN model). S84 means Seed et al. (1984), SI70 represents Seed and Idriss (1970), and VS91 comes from Vucetic and Dobry (1991).

3.3 CONCLUSIONS

The NGA and NEHRP site factors are consistent in certain respects (e.g., the scaling of linear site amplification with V_{s30}), but have discrepancies in linear site amplification (applicable for rock PGA $\leq 0.1g$) for site Classes B to E and in the levels of nonlinearity for Classes C and D. The amount of these discrepancies ranges from up to 50% for Class E to amounts ranging from about 0 to 20% for Classes B-D. Previous work has identified similar discrepancies in NEHRP and NGA site factors (Huang et al. 2010), but the discrepancies were not clearly associated with differences in linear site amplification levels and nonlinearities. Such associations are useful to understand causes of misfits and to formulate possible future updates to NEHRP factors.

A major cause of the weak motion amplification misfit is that the NEHRP factors are normalized relative to a reference site condition of $V_{ref} = 1050$ m/sec (i.e., the equations behind the tabulated factors reach unity at this velocity), whereas their current application is relative to $V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec. When re-normalized to $V_{s30} = 760$ m/sec, the NEHRP factors are much closer to NGA factors (especially for Class D), although misfits remain for Classes B, C, and E.

We find that the nonlinearity in F_a and F_v from recent simulation-based work (WEA08) is smaller than the nonlinearity in the NEHRP factors (Dobry et al. 2000). Those reduced levels of nonlinearity are consistent with trends from empirical ground motion data.



Figure 3.8 Trend of residuals with *PHA*_r [from Kwok and Stewart (2006)].

4 Nonlinear Site Amplification from Data and Simulations

In this chapter we first review the nonlinear site amplification model developed in this research. The data analysis behind the model is presented in BEA13 and SS14. We present supporting work that guided model development with respect to levels of nonlinearity implied by simulations and regional variations in site amplification. We conclude by comparing the site amplification model developed in this work with those of other NGA-West 2 GMPEs.

4.1 NONLINEAR SITE AMPLIFICATION MODEL

4.1.1 Model Equations

The nonlinear site amplification model in the base-case GMPE of BEA13 and BEA14 is comprised of two additive terms representing V_{s30} -scaling and nonlinearity as follows:

$$F_{S,B} = \ln(F_{lin}) + \ln(F_{nl}) \tag{4.1}$$

where $F_{S,B}$ represents 'base case' (i.e., ignoring basin effects) site amplification in natural logarithmic units; F_{lin} represents the linear component of site amplification, which is dependent on V_{S30} ; and F_{nl} represents the nonlinear component of site amplification, which depends on V_{S30} and the amplitude of shaking on reference rock (taken as $V_{S30} = 760$ m/sec).

The linear component of the model (F_{lin}) describes the scaling of ground motion with V_{S30} for linear soil response conditions (i.e., small strains) as follows:

$$\ln\left(F_{lin}\right) = \begin{cases} c \ln\left(\frac{V_{S30}}{V_{ref}}\right) & V_{S30} \le V_c \\ c \ln\left(\frac{V_c}{V_{ref}}\right) & V_{S30} > V_c \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

where c describes the V_{s30} -scaling in the model, V_c is the limiting velocity beyond which ground motions no longer scale with V_{s30} , and V_{ref} is the site condition for which the amplification is unity (taken as 760 m/sec).

The nonlinear term in the site amplification model (F_{nl}) modifies the linear site amplification so as to decrease amplification for strong shaking levels. The F_{nl} term is constructed so as to produce no change relative to the linear term for low PGA_r levels. The functional form for the F_{nl} term is as follows:

$$\ln(F_{nl}) = f_1 + f_2 \ln\left(\frac{PGA_r + f_3}{f_3}\right)$$
(4.3)

where f_1 , f_2 , and f_3 are coefficients in the model and PGA_r is the median peak horizontal acceleration for reference rock (taken as $V_{S30}=760$ m/sec). We take $f_1 = 0.0$ to force $\ln(F_{nl})$ to zero for $PGA_r \ll f_3$. Parameter f_3 is set as 0.1g based on analyses presented in Section 4.3 of this report, whereas f_2 is a function of period and V_{S30} as follows:

$$f_2 = f_4 \left[\exp\left\{ f_5 \left(\min\left(V_{s30}, 760 \right) - 360 \right) \right\} - \exp\left\{ f_5 \left(760 - 360 \right) \right\} \right]$$
(4.4)

where f_4 and f_5 are period-dependent coefficients and . This functional form for f_2 is the same as that used by Chiou and Youngs (2008).

4.1.2 Model Development

As described in SS14, Stage 1 of the model development established the nonlinear component (terms f_2 , f_3 , f_4 , and f_5). The evaluation of these terms considered both simulation results and empirical data analysis. The extraction of f_2 and f_3 terms from the KEA14 simulation-based nonlinear site amplification model is described in Section 4.2 of this report. The empirical data analysis began with the computation of rock residuals for each recording in the selected data set:

$$R_{ij} = \ln Y_{ij} - \left[\left(\mu_r \right)_{ij} + \eta_i \right] + \varepsilon_{i,j}$$
(4.5)

where R_{ij} is the rock residual, Y_{ij} is the *j*th observed (recorded) value of the ground-motion IM, μ_r is the mean (in natural log units) of the BEA14 GMPE for rock conditions (including regional corrections for apparent anelastic attenuation, as applicable), η_i is the event term for earthquake *i*, and $\varepsilon_{i,j}$ is the within-event residual. The rock site condition used in the computations was V_{s30} =760 m/sec. Nonlinearity was evaluated by regressing R_{ij} against PGA_r (median peak acceleration on rock) within bins of V_{s30} (< 200, 200–310, 310–520, 520–760, > 760 m/sec) using Equation (4.3). This analysis is expanded in this report (Section 4.3.1) to examine regional variations of nonlinearity. Stage 2 of model building was to evaluate the linear term, F_{lin} . This analysis operates on residuals R_{ij} [Equation (4.5)] that are adjusted by removing nonlinear effects as predicted by the F_{nl} model [Equation (4.1)]:

$$R_{k}^{lin} = R_{i,j} - \ln(F_{nl})_{i,j}$$
(4.6)

The modified residual, R_k^{lin} , applies for linear (small strain) conditions. Subscript k in R_k^{lin} is an index spanning across all available data points; we drop the event and within-event subscripts (*i* and *j*, respectively) because of the removal of event terms in the computation of R_{ij} , which allows all data points to be weighted equally. The *c* coefficient in Equation (4.2) is evaluated as the slope in a linear regression between the natural log of R_k^{lin} against the natural log of V_{s30} for $V_{s30} < V_c$. In Section 4.3.2 we investigate regional variations of the *c* parameter and its dependence on data selection criteria.

4.2 CONSTRAINT OF PARAMETERS USING SIMULATION-BASED MODEL

As described in Section 2.2, nonlinear site amplification models can be derived on the basis of equivalent-linear ground response simulations, which were undertaken by WEA08 for the original NGA project. The nonlinearity in these relations is driven by the shear modulus reduction and damping versus shear strain relations. The WEA08 study used judgment-driven modulus reduction and damping curves known as the peninsular range curves (PEN) and curves presented by EPRI (1993)

As part of the NGA-West 2 project, KEA14 re-analyzed a larger set of ground motion simulations that includes additional site profiles and input motions relative to those utilized by WEA08, but the same PEN and EPRI nonlinear curves. Similar to WEA08, the results are presented as period-dependent nonlinear amplification models for a discrete number of mean V_{S30} values (five for WEA08; six for KEA14). The resulting KEA14 model uses the functional form for site amplification from WEA08, which has a similar structure to Equation (4.3) but which is considerably more complex such that the coefficients' physical meaning is not the same as the f_1 , f_2 , and f_3 parameters in Equation (4.3). Accordingly, as shown in Figure 4.1, we use the KEA14 equations to compute site amplifications and then fit the computed points using Equation (4.3). Because the KEA14 function has a closed-form expression for the equivalent of the f_3 parameter that is V_{S30} -dependent, we apply that function in advance so that the fitting process matches f_1 and f_2 only for a constrained value of f_3 . Table 4.1 shows the resulting f_2 values for the discrete V_{S30} values and various periods.



Figure 4.1(a) Site amplification as function of V_{S30} , period, and PGA_r from simulation-based model of KEA14; PEN modulus reduction and damping curves.



Figure 4.1(b) Site amplification as function of V_{S30} , period, and PGA_r from simulation-based model of KEA14; EPRI modulus reduction and damping curves.

Table 4.1	Values of f_2 for KEA14 model based on fit using Equation (4.3).
-----------	--	----

Period	PEN as PGA input (V _{s30} in m/s)											
(sec)	190	270	400	560	760	900						
0.01	-0.48±0.008	-0.34±0.011	-0.17±0.010	-0.05±0.021	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000						
0.2	-0.77±0.012	-0.52±0.013	-0.23±0.015	-0.03±0.001	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000						
1	-0.38±0.015	-0.13±0.017	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000						
3	0.14±0.000	0.05±0.03	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000						
			EPRI as PGA inp	ut (V _{s30} in m/s)								
		270	400	560	760							
0.01		-0.36±0.017	-0.27±0.014	-0.17±0.002	-0.09±0.046							
0.2		-0.60±0.018	-0.39±0.021	-0.23±0.014	-0.10±0.058							
1		0.02±0.042	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000	0.00±0.000							
3		0.16±0.058	0.09±0.083	0.03±0.062	0.00±0.002							

Values of nonlinear parameter f_2 from simulations are shown in Figure 4.2 along with the non-regional empirical results of SS14 and the proposed model. The simulation-based slopes are comparable to the data-based slopes, except for PSA at T = 0.5-3.0 sec where the data exhibits more nonlinearity than is evident from the simulations.



Figure 4.2 Variation of slope f_2 with V_{S30} from NGA-West 2 data, KEA14 simulation results (using modulus reduction curves labeled PEN for Peninsular range and EPRI), and SS14 model.

4.3 REGIONAL VARIATIONS OF SITE AMPLIFICATION

4.3.1 Nonlinear Component of Model

SS14 examined trends of R_{ij} against PGA_r within V_{S30} bins using a large portion of the NGA-West 2 data set drawn from many regions, which forms the basis for the empirical f_2 values shown in Figure 4.2 (data selection criteria are described in BEA14). A least-squares regression using Equation (4.3) was performed using data in each period and V_{S30} bin to estimate f_1 and f_2 . Additive parameter f_3 , which produces saturation of site amplification for input motion amplitudes with $PGA_r \ll f_3$, was fixed at 0.1g in these regressions because the three coefficients cannot be reliably computed simultaneously.

The fixed value of $f_3=0.1g$ was selected by repeating regressions using Equation (4.3) with variable fixed values of f_3 and finding the value that minimizes dispersion for data in the V_{S30} bins of < 200 and 200–310 m/sec. Figure 4.3 shows the resulting values of f_3 , which do not exhibit trends with period. Note that values of f_3 implied from the simulation-based model of KEA14 are also shown in Figure 4.3.



-igure 4.3 Variation of additive term r_3 in site amplification function with period from empirical data analysis (to minimize residuals) and from model of KEA14.

Because the empirical data analysis performed to support the development of the nonlinear component of the site amplification model utilized a combined global data set, it is of

interest to evaluate possible regional dependencies in the f_2 parameter. This was not formally investigated by BEA13 or SS14 and is presented here.

In Figures 4.4 to 4.6, we plot R_{ij} against PGA_r by region. The data used for these plots are subsets of the dataset considered by BEA13 and SS14 within California, Japan, and Taiwan. The plots show fits to the data in the respective V_{S30} bins using Equation (4.3) (with f_3 set to 0.1g) along with the fit for the overall (global) data from SS14. Nonlinearity is manifest in the plots by non-zero values of slope parameter f_2 that are statistically significant, which is judged to be the case when the value of f_2 is larger than its standard error (values of f_2 by region and their standard errors are shown in Table 4.2). There are two major trends in the plots, both of which have been observed previously [e.g., Choi and Stewart (2005)]: (1) nonlinearity decreases with increasing V_{S30} , generally becoming statistically insignificant for relatively stiff site categories (V_{s30} >310 m/sec); and (2) nonlinearity decreases as period increases, being statistically significant only for $T \leq \sim 1$ sec except for the softest soil sites ($V_{S30} < 200$ m/sec).

In Figure 4.7, we plot f_2 values against V_{S30} from the regional regressions, with the SS14 model also shown for comparison. The aforementioned trends of decreasing nonlinearity with increasing V_{S30} and increasing period are evident in Figure 4.7. While there are substantial between-region variations in f_2 , we do not observe specific regional trends in nonlinearity that are considered sufficiently important to carry forward into an amplification model. Therefore, regionalization of f_2 was not incorporated into the site amplification model of SS14.



Figure 4.4 Variation of site amplification factors with *PGA*_r within site categories for California portion of data set. Discrete symbols are within-event residuals [*R_{jj}*, Equation (4.5)], solid lines are nonlinear regional fit from Equation (4.3), dotted lines are global fit from SS14.



Figure 4.5 Variation of site amplification factors with *PGA*, within site categories for Japan. See Figure 4.4 caption for further explanation of symbols.



Figure 4.6 Variation of site amplification factors with *PGA*, within site categories for Taiwan. See Figure 4.4 caption for further explanation of symbols.

City Class	IM/Period	Califor	nia	Japa	n	Taiwa	ın
Site Class	(sec)	f 2	Std. Dev.	f 2	Std. Dev.	f ₂	Std. Dev.
/s	PGA	$\textbf{-0.57} \pm \textbf{0.17}$	0.53	-1.21 ± 0.17	0.60	-1.01 ± 0.17	0.42
ш	PGV	-0.42 ± 0.16	0.47	-0.57 ± 0.18	0.57	-0.59 ± 0.17	0.39
200	0.2	-0.59 ± 0.16	0.50	-0.98 ± 0.18	0.59	-0.71 ± 0.20	0.46
VI 30	1	-0.47 ± 0.18	0.54	-0.67 ± 0.22	0.68	-0.83 ± 0.20	0.48
Vs	3	-0.23 ± 0.17	0.47	-0.02 ± 0.24	TaiwanStd. Dev. f_2 Std. Dev170.60 -1.01 ± 0.17 0.42.180.57 -0.59 ± 0.17 0.39.180.59 -0.71 ± 0.20 0.46.220.68 -0.83 ± 0.20 0.48.240.71 -0.45 ± 0.23 0.49.090.57 -0.48 ± 0.10 0.43.090.57 -0.40 ± 0.10 0.42.100.66 -0.34 ± 0.12 0.50.090.73 -0.63 ± 0.14 0.48130.77 -0.25 ± 0.14 0.62.070.59 0.00 ± 0.06 0.48090.71 0.08 ± 0.06 0.51090.75 -0.26 ± 0.07 0.57090.72 -0.16 ± 0.09 0.70110.63 0.05 ± 0.07 0.53130.70 0.00 ± 0.07 0.53140.77 0.02 ± 0.09 0.68.11 0.62 -0.01 ± 0.10 0.72 38 0.68 0.60 ± 0.44 0.48		
VI	PGA	-0.35 ± 0.06	0.62	-0.81 ± 0.09	0.57	-1.01 ± 0.17 0.42 -0.59 ± 0.17 0.39 -0.71 ± 0.20 0.46 -0.71 ± 0.20 0.46 -0.83 ± 0.20 0.48 -0.45 ± 0.23 0.49 -0.45 ± 0.23 0.49 -0.48 ± 0.10 0.43 -0.40 ± 0.10 0.42 -0.40 ± 0.10 0.42 -0.40 ± 0.10 0.42 -0.40 ± 0.10 0.42 -0.34 ± 0.12 0.50 -0.63 ± 0.14 0.48 -0.25 ± 0.14 0.62 0.00 ± 0.06 0.48 -0.19 ± 0.06 0.49 0.08 ± 0.06 0.51 -0.26 ± 0.07 0.57 2 -0.16 ± 0.09 0.70 3 0.05 ± 0.07 0.53 7 -0.12 ± 0.08 0.55 0.00 ± 0.07 0.53 7 0.02 ± 0.09 0.68	0.43
s30 :	PGV	-0.27 ± 0.05	0.59	-0.34 ± 0.09	0.57	-0.40 ± 0.10	0.42
200 < V _s 310 m/	0.2	-0.51 ± 0.06	0.67	-0.82 ± 0.10	0.66	-0.34 ± 0.12	0.50
	1	-0.36 ± 0.05	0.54	-0.22 ± 0.09	0.73	-0.63 ± 0.14	0.48
2	3	-0.13 ± 0.05	0.50	0.05 ± 0.13	± 0.10 0.66 -0.34 ± 0.12 0.50 ± 0.09 0.73 -0.63 ± 0.14 0.48 ± 0.13 0.77 -0.25 ± 0.14 0.62 ± 0.07 0.590.00 \pm 0.060.48 ± 0.07 0.56 -0.19 ± 0.06 0.49 ± 0.09 0.710.08 \pm 0.060.51		
310 < V _{s30} ≤ 520 m/s	PGA	-0.02 ± 0.04	0.62	-0.00 ± 0.07	0.59	0.00 ± 0.06	0.48
	PGV	-0.16 ± 0.04	0.57	0.06 ± 0.07	0.56	-0.19 ± 0.06	0.49
	0.2	-0.22 ± 0.04	0.65	-0.09 ± 0.09	0.71	0.08 ± 0.06	0.51
	1	-0.11 ± 0.04	0.60	0.07 ± 0.09	0.75	-0.26 ± 0.07	0.57
(1)	3	0.05 ± 0.04	0.58	0.19 ± 0.09	Std. Dev. f_2 Std. Dev.0.60 -1.01 ± 0.17 0.420.57 -0.59 ± 0.17 0.390.59 -0.71 ± 0.20 0.460.68 -0.83 ± 0.20 0.480.71 -0.45 ± 0.23 0.490.57 -0.48 ± 0.10 0.430.57 -0.40 ± 0.10 0.420.66 -0.34 ± 0.12 0.500.73 -0.63 ± 0.14 0.480.77 -0.25 ± 0.14 0.620.59 0.00 ± 0.06 0.480.56 -0.19 ± 0.06 0.490.71 0.08 ± 0.06 0.510.72 -0.16 ± 0.09 0.700.63 0.05 ± 0.07 0.530.57 -0.12 ± 0.08 0.550.70 0.00 ± 0.07 0.530.77 0.02 ± 0.09 0.680.62 -0.01 ± 0.10 0.720.69 0.41 ± 0.39 0.430.43 -0.12 ± 0.43 0.470.68 0.60 ± 0.44 0.480.51 0.27 ± 0.51 0.56		
VI	PGA	-0.10 ± 0.09	0.72	0.37 ± 0.11	0.63	-0.71 ± 0.20 -0.71 ± 0.20 -0.83 ± 0.20 -0.45 ± 0.23 -0.45 ± 0.23 -0.40 ± 0.10 -0.34 ± 0.12 -0.63 ± 0.14 -0.63 ± 0.14 -0.25 ± 0.14 0.00 ± 0.06 -0.19 ± 0.06 0.08 ± 0.06 -0.26 ± 0.07 -0.16 ± 0.09 0.05 ± 0.07 -0.12 ± 0.08 0.00 ± 0.07 0.02 ± 0.09 0.01 ± 0.10 0.41 ± 0.39 -0.12 ± 0.43 0.60 ± 0.44 0.12 ± 0.55 0.27 ± 0.51	0.53
s30 \$	PGV	-0.15 ± 0.08	0.64	0.48 ± 0.10	0.57	-0.12 ± 0.08	0.55
	0.2	-0.14 ± 0.09	0.77	0.32 ± 0.13	0.70	0.00 ± 0.07	0.53
520 76	1	-0.06 ± 0.07	0.59	0.06 ± 0.14	0.77	0.02 ± 0.09	0.68
(1	3	0.09 ± 0.07	0.55	-0.02 ± 0.11	0.62	-0.01 ± 0.10	0.72
V	PGA	0.02 ± 0.20	0.69	0.64 ± 0.381	0.69	0.41 ± 0.39	0.43
. 0530 .	PGV	0.21 ± 0.16	0.56	-0.27 ± 0.24	0.43	-0.12 ± 0.43	0.47
≤ Vs 00 m	0.2	0.02 ± 0.19	0.66	0.27 ± 0.38	0.68	0.60 ± 0.44	0.48
760 15(1	0.07 ± 0.15	0.52	-0.16 ± 0.34	0.61	0.12 ± 0.55	0.60
	3	0.23 ± 0.16	0.51	0.09 ± 0.29	0.51	0.27 ± 0.51	0.56

Table 4.2Nonlinear parameter f_2 as established from regressions of regional data using Equation (4.3).



Figure 4.7 Dependence of slope (f_2) with V_{S30} for various regions along with SS14 model.

4.3.2 Linear Component of Model

Linear site amplification is evaluated by subtracting the nonlinear term from the total residual to obtain R_k^{lin} , as shown in Equation (4.6). Whereas the analysis of nonlinearity places a premium on close-distance sites likely to have been subject to nonlinear soil behavior, the analysis of linear site amplification tends to be weighted towards the large number of sites at greater distance where amplitudes of shaking are low and site response is more likely linear. This places the empirical analysis of linear site response somewhat in tension with regional variations of anelastic attenuation, which can introduce systematic bias in GMPEs at large distance for

specific events. If not accounted for, this bias could be mistakenly mapped into site amplification using the data analysis procedures described in Section 4.1.

This problem has previously been addressed by truncating the data set used for analysis of site response at site-source distances sufficiently small (approximately 80 km) that anelastic attenuation effects are unlikely to be significant [e.g., Campbell and Bozorgnia (2013); Stewart et al. (2013)]. As mentioned in Section 4.1, the approach adopted by BEA13 and BEA14 is different, opting instead to correct for regional anelastic attenuation effects, verify the efficacy of such corrections, and then extend the distance range much further (up to approximately 400 km).

Figure 4.8(a-b) show the dependence of site amplification (represented by R_k^{lin}) with V_{S30} for various periods for the five regions contributing most of the NGA-West 2 data: California, Japan, Taiwan, Mediterranean (Greece, Italy, Turkey), and China. Two data selection criteria were applied: (1) the criteria used in BEA13 and BEA14 (e.g., Section 2.1 of BEA13), which include data up to $R_{jb} \approx 400$ km; and (2) data truncation at $R_{jb} \leq 80$ km (these residuals were computed without regional anelastic attenuation corrections). Residuals R_k^{lin} were sorted by region and regressed using Equation (4.2) to obtain slope parameter *c*. These regressions are performed with V_{ref} left as a free parameter so as to obtain the most accurate slope. This causes the regression to be non-zero at 760 m/sec, which is the desired reference velocity. That offset from zero at 760 m/sec is subtracted on a regional basis for the plots shown in Figure 4.8 (and similar diagrams in SS14). Note that parameter *c* represents the V_{S30} -scaling in that it quantifies the slope of the relationship between site amplification and V_{S30} in log-log space.

The slopes in Figure 4.8(a-b) are negative, which is expected, as this indicates stronger ground motion for softer sites. Slopes also tend to increase with period over the range considered, which is also consistent with past experience [e.g., Boore et al. (1997) and the NGA-West 1 models]. Note that the results from California in Figure 4.8 indicate a break in the V_{s30} scaling for fast velocities and longer periods (as seen in the results for T = 1.0 sec). It is this break in slope that motivated the use of the corner velocity V_c in the linear portion of the site amplification function [Equation (4.2)].



Figure 4.8(a)

Variation of linearized site amplification [Equation (4.6)] with V_{S30} and their binned means (and 95% confidence intervals) for subsets of data from California, Japan, and Taiwan. Trend lines for global data set shown for $V_{S30} < V_c$ and marked as SS14. Data points selected using more restrictive criteria ($R_{JB} < 80$ km) also shown. Slope values (*c*) listed for linear fit through grey (all points) and blue (more restrictive) data sets.



Figure 4.8(b) Variation of linearized site amplification [Equation (4.6)] with V_{S30} for subsets of data from Medeteranean regions and China.

Figure 4.9 shows the resulting *c* values plotted against period for the two data selection criteria. Figure 4.9a shows the values obtained using the SS14 criteria in which the data extend to large distance, whereas Figure 4.9b shows the values obtained with the 80-km cutoff distance. Using the SS14 data selection criteria (inclusive of large distances), we find modest variations of *c* between regions. As shown in Figures 4.8 and 4.9, the two data selection criteria produce similar slopes in most regions and periods. A notable exception is Japan, where the 80-km truncated data set slopes are significantly different, being much flatter at short periods. Similar sensitivites of the V_{s30} slope parameter to data selection criteria have been observed previously by Chiou and Youngs (2012) for the Japanese data. There are slope differences at some periods

for the Mediterranean and China regions as well, although these are relatively poorly constrained due to relatively sparse data (and limited V_{S30} range). Until the cause of these differences in slopes are better understood, we consider it prudent to use slopes derived from the global data set. BEA14 and SS14 used that relatively complete data set and elected to not regionalize the *c* parameter due to the relatively modest between-region variations evident in Figure 4.9a.



The data shown in Figure 4.8 include sites with V_{S30} values both from measurements and inferred from proxy relationships. As requested by members of the Task 8 wording group, we investigated whether the trends shown in Figure 4.8 are preserved when data are considered only from sites with measurement-based V_{S30} values. Figure 4.10 shows the V_{S30} -scaling using only measured V_{S30} for the combined data sets and those from three regions. There are some changes in the slope coefficients, particularly at shorter periods. The largest changes occur in the California and Japan results. The use of proxies aggregate at a series of individual V_{S30} values that would otherwise be a continuous spread of data points. Particularly for slow V_{S30} -values, this aggregation has the effect of underestimating the level of the nonlinear correction because that correction increases substantially in magnitude as V_{S30} decreases. Indeed, regressions of the type shown in Figures 4.8 and 4.10 without removal of nonlinear effects (not shown here) indicate almost no change as a result of screening the data to consider only measured sites. Despite this potential pitfall of using proxies, particularly for soft sites, in subsequent analyses in this report we utilize data from sites with V_{S30} from measurements and proxy estimates so as to not overly restrict the size of the data set.



combined data set and subsets from California, Japan, and Taiwan. Blue solid line: \pm 95% CI, red solid line: Median fit for $V_{S30} < V_c$.

The Taiwan data set is somewhat unique in that it has a substantial volume of data from aftershocks, along with a smaller amount of mainshock data. This is of some concern because aftershocks are treated differently than mainshocks in the development of some GMPEs. We segregate events into two types: (1) 1999 Chi Chi mainshock (CL1) and (2) subsequent Chi Chi Class 2 (CL2) events (considered as aftershocks). The aftershocks are the largest in number (970 recordings) for this region. The results are shown in Figure 4.11. The Chi-Chi CL2 data (orange dots) dominate the data set and hence the trends shown previously for Taiwan in Figure 4.8. The aftershocks produce stronger V_{S30} -scaling than the mainshocks. It is possible that these differences result in part from nonlinearity. Recall that the nonlinear correction applied to the data represents an apparoximate global average as inferred from data analysis and simulations. Individual regions can exhibit different trends, which is indeed the case for Taiwan. As shown in Figure 4.6, the Taiwan data exhibit higher than average nonlinearity for soft sites and less than average nonlinearity for stiff sites. If the nonlinear correction were modified to consider those apparent regional effects, the mainshock slopes would steepen, making them closer to aftershock slopes. Despite these differences in behavior, we retain the use of data from aftershocks in our work because we see no reason for the physical processes causing site response to be biased for one event type versus another, provided the effects of nonlinearity are taken into account.



Figure 4.11 Variation of site amplification with V_{S30} for Chi Chi, Taiwan, Class 1 (CL1) events (mainshocks) and Class 2 (CL2) events (aftershocks).

4.4 COMPARISON TO SITE TERMS IN OTHER NGA-WEST 2 GMPES

In Section 2.2 we described the site terms in the NGA-West 1 GMPEs and showed how they compared to the NEHRP site factors. Each set of site factors has been updated for NGA-West 2 in papers by Abrahamson et al. (2014: ASK14), BEA14, Campbell and Bozorgnia (2014: CB14), and Chiou and Youngs (2014: CY14). A fifth NGA-West 2 GMPE by Idriss (2014) now includes a site term (which was not included in the 2008 version of this GMPE), but the data used in the analysis does not include most soil sites, so that study is not considered further here.

Other than BEA14, the general form of the site term equations has remained the same from NGA-West 1 to NGA-West 2. All site terms are based on empirical data analysis for V_{S30} -scaling terms, whereas nonlinear terms are evaluated from a hybrid of data analysis and simulation results from WEA08 and KEA14 in a manner very similar to that described in Section 2.2. Other than BEA14, the main change was that ASK14 now use PSA at the period of interest as the parameter driving nonlinearity (similar to CY08) in lieu of PGA_r .

Figure 4.12 shows the site terms for the four aforementioned NGA-West 2 GMPEs: ASK14, BEA14 (SS14), CB14, and CY14. The site terms were all normalized to a reference condition of $V_{ref} = 760$ m/sec using procedures described in Section 3.1 of this report. The GMPE site factors are computed at equally-spaced periods on a log scale and averaged (in arithmetic units) for the plot in Figure 4.12.

For soil site classes C and D, the ASK14 factors are typically highest and CB14 lowest, with BEA14 and CB14 values generally being intermediate. Overall, the differences between the site factors for site classes C and D is relatively modest. Variations among models are more pronounced for site class E, with the ASK14 factors having the strongest nonlinearity. The current NEHRP factors are also shown on the plot for reference purposes. The misfits between the NGA-West 2 factors and NEHRP factors follow similar trends to those identified earlier for NGA-West 1 factors in Section 3.1.



Figure 4.12 Comparison of site terms in NGA-West 2 GMPE normalized to a common reference site condition of V_{ref} = 760 m/sec along with current NEHRP site factors, which have a reference condition of 1050 m/sec. Site factors from NGA relationships are averaged across corresponding period ranges (0.1–0.5 sec for F_a ; 0.4–2.0 sec for F_{v}) using equally spaced periods on a log scale.

5 Development of Revised NEHRP Site Factors

5.1 THE PROCESS

The Task 8 Working Group described in Chapter 1.1 was assembled principally to support the development of a proposal to modify the NEHRP site factors. Many working group members have experience as past members of the Building Seismic Safety Council (BSSC) Provisions Update Committee (PUC), which meets on approximately four-year intervals to hear and vote on proposals to revise the *NEHRP Recommended Provisions for New Buildings and Other Structures* (BSSC 2003).

One member of the Task 8 Working Group, C.B. Crouse, is a current member of the PUC. Early in this project, we sought and received PUC approval to prepare a proposal to revise the NEHRP site factors. The PUC requested that the Task 8 working group prepare a proposal and that the group members vote on it. A unanimous or nearly unanimous Task 8 vote was considered essential for a proposal to be favorably evaluated at the PUC level.

The Task 8 working group met in person and via phone meetings on five occasions between March 2010 and June 2012. The purpose of the initial meetings was to define specific scope items that would enable the issues with the current NEHRP site factors to be clearly defined. The outcomes of this work are described principally in Chapters 2 and 3 of this report, and were publically presented in a keynote presentation at the 2012 GeoCongress in Oakland California (Seyhan and Stewart 2012). Subsequent meetings involved the review of data and analysis results developed by the authors and other committee members, much of which is included in Chapter 4 of this report.

In the course of these meetings, different views of some key issues were identified and discussed in some detail, as described further in the next section. Aside from those specific issues, the Task 8 group was able to reach consensus relatively easily on other matters. A proposal was submitted to PUC in October 2012. Following several round of review, revision, and balloting, the proposal was approved unanimously by the PUC in September 2013. Accordingly, the new site factors are expected to appear in the 2015 version of the NEHRP *Provisions*.

The principal technical issues that were discussed and debated within the Task 8 working group and PUC are described in the following section.

5.2 DECISION POINTS IN COMMITTEE DELIBERATIONS

Several issues have direct influence on nonlinear site factors having a functional dependence on the site parameter V_{S30} . These include the region from which the data is derived, the value of V_{S30} that site factors are referenced to, the manner by which nonlinearity in site amplification is evaluated and parameterized, and whether best-estimate or deliberately biased site factors should be used in building code applications.

Of these issues, the reference value of V_{S30} presented the most difficulty in reaching consensus within the Task 8 working group. One opinion, expressed principally by one working group member, was that the reference velocity (V_{ref}) should be taken as 1050 m/sec. The rationale for this choice was that this approximate value was obtained from reference site regressions using the Loma Prieta earthquake data (Borcherdt 1994b), as described further in Chapter 2 (Section 2.1.1). The second opinion was that V_{ref} should be taken as the value used in the USGS national hazard maps, so that site amplification from the factors would be expressed relative to the mapped ground motion levels. The committee ultimately came to the view (in a June 2012 meeting) that the second approach was preferred as it is more in keeping with how the national maps and site factors are currently configured and used. The PUC ultimately approved site factors derived using the second approach as well.

A second issue requiring a decision drawn from the collective judgment of the Task 8 group concerned the regionalization of site amplification described in Chapter 4, which affects the slope of log amplification – log (V_{S30}) relations. Two approaches were considered. The first was to base the site factors on slopes derived from California data, since much of the U.S. seismic hazard lies in California, and hence the impact of the NEHRP *Provisions* is particularly strong there. The second approach was to base the slope on a global site amplification model (i.e., the model by SS14 and adopted by BEA14), since the NEHRP factors are applied broadly and the diversity of regions contributing data to NGA-West 2 comes closer to capturing the range of conditions in application regions than the use of solely California data. The second (non-regionalized) approach was selected, which had the benefit of changing the NEHRP factors in most site categories by amounts less than 20% (the amount of change would have been larger in some cases using V_{S30} -scaling specific to California).

The issue of nonlinearity, while important, was non-controversial. The nonlinear model of SS14 was considered by the Task 8 group to represent a reasonable combination of results obtained from simulation-based and empirical studies.

The issue of bias in the NEHRP site factors was raised in discussions with the PUC. There was general consensus that site factors for Classes B-D should be unbiased (median values), but that Class E factors should be biased high. The rationale for introducing this bias was to not produce a large change from the current Class E values and to incentivize site-specific analyses, which in most cases should produce reduced levels of site amplification relative to code values. The PUC also requested that we compute site factors for a stronger shaking level $(S_s > 1.5, S_I > 0.6)$, which has been provided.

In a June 29 2012 meeting, the following resolution was put forward to the Task 8 working group:

Should revised NEHRP factors be derived from a site amplification model derived from residuals analysis using full NGA-West 2 data set and cast relative to a reference site condition of V_{ref} =760 m/sec?

The Task 8 working group voted unanimously "yes" to the resolution. NEHRP site factors derived in consideration of this approach are described in the following section.

A complication that arose after the June 2012 meeting was that one committee member dis-avowed support for the above approach and put forward a proposal formulated differently from what is described in the following section. That proposal maintains a reference velocity for the site factors of 1050 m/sec. The rationale for this alternative proposal is described by Borcherdt (2012). The basis of the argument is essentially that the empirical site factors from Borcherdt (1994b) were developed relative to rock sites having an average shear wave velocity that is near the B-C boundary (795 m/sec). Therefore, although the equation fit to the data passes through unity at 1050 m/sec, the site factors in an overall sense are relative to something near the B-C boundary. We do not dispute this interpretation of the Borcherdt (1994b) results. Where we disagree is in the supposition that the 1050 m/sec velocity, or something near it, should be maintained as the reference condition when site factors are evaluated using a non-reference site approach (i.e., the approach used in GMPE development and SS14). Based on the results of the June 2012 meeting and subsequent correspondence, all but one of the Task 8 working group members recognize that using a reference velocity different from 760 m/s would introduce bias to the site factors that is not appropriate. As mentioned previously, the PUC also agreed unanimously with the use of a reference velocity of 760 m/s for the derivation of the new NEHRP site factors.

5.3 UPDATED NEHRP FACTORS

The site amplification model described by SS14 and in Chapter 4 is utilized to generate site amplification factors within the V_{S30} bins, and at the PGA_r values, currently used in the NEHRP *Provisions*. Recall that the NEHRP site factors are specified for Categories A-E with the V_{S30} limits given in Table 2.1. We select representative V_{S30} values for each category from the distribution of measured data in the NGA-West 2 site database (Seyhan et al. 2014).

Table 5.1 presents these within-category median V_{S30} values along with the recommended V_{S30} values from Borcherdt (1994b, Table 2, marked as 'B94'). Site amplification within each category is computed using the NGA-West 2 median V_{S30} values in Table 5.1. The rationale behind this selection is that the NEHRP factors are evaluated for the 50th percentile V_{S30} value within the category. The resulting factors are not substantially different if they are evaluated at alternate velocities selected by Borcherdt (1994b) or at the geometric mean of the category limits (see Section 3.1 for discussion).

The NEHRP site factors are developed using the model represented by Equation (4.1). The $\ln(F_{lin})$ term is computed using Equation (4.2) by averaging slope (c) values across period ranges of 0.1–0.5 sec (for F_a) and 0.4-2.0 sec (for F_v). The averaging is not done across all NGA periods within those ranges, because they are not evenly sampled in log space. Rather, we selected 20 periods per log cycle that were (roughly) evenly sampled. The corresponding c values are -0.73 for F_a and -1.03 for F_v . As described in Section 5.2, V_{ref} is taken as 760 m/sec.

The $\ln(F_{nl})$ term is computed using Equation (4.3), in which slope f_2 is computed using Equation (4.4) from averaged f_4 and f_5 values for the respective period ranges computed as described above and for the V_{S30} values shown in Table 5.1, f_1 is zero, and f_3 is taken as 0.1g independent of period.

NEHRP Site Class	NGA-West 2 Median V _{s30} (m/s)	Mid-Range V _{s30} (m/s) from B94	Geometric Mean of Class Limits (m/s)
E (V _{s30} ≤ 180 m/s)	155	150	180
D (180 < V _{s30} < 360 m/s)	266	290	255
C (360 ≤ V _{s30} < 760 m/s)	489	540	523
B (760 ≤ V _{s30} < 1500 m/s)	913	1050	1068
A (V _{s30} ≥ 1500 m/s)	1620 ^ª	1620	1500

Table 5.1Representative median V_{S30} values in NEHRP categories.

^a Adopted from Borcherdt (1994)

Coefficients for c, f_4 and f_5 that were used in the above calculations are given in the Appendix of BEA14.

Since reference site ground motion amplitudes are specified in the NEHRP *Provisions* in terms of spectral ordinates instead of PGA_r , we apply the following conversions:

$$S_s \approx 2.3 \times PGA_r$$

$$S_1 \approx 0.7 \times PGA_r$$
(5.1)

Site factors are computed at $PGA_r = 0.11, 0.22, 0.33, 0.43, 0.54$, and 0.65g (for F_a) and $PGA_r = 0.14, 0.29, 0.43, 0.57, 0.71$, and 0.86g (for F_v), which is consistent with the tabulated S_s and S_I values in the current NEHRP *Provisions* (except for the newly added highest shaking levels.

We compute period-averaged site amplification for the specified ranges of V_{S30} and PGA_r . The results are given in Figure 5.1 and Table 5.2. For the case of Site Class A, we maintain the current values of 0.8, which are generally consistent with amplification for $V_{S30} > V_c$ in SS14. For Site Class E, median estimates of site amplification were computed using the complete model as with the other classes. However, the recommended factors for Site Class E are increased above the median by one-half of the within-event standard deviation derived as given by BEA14, which increases site factors by approximately a factor of 1.3-1.4. This introduces a conservative bias to the Class E factors that is considered desirable due to the relatively modest amount of data for this site condition. A conservative bias was applied in the original site factors for Class E as well (Dobry et al. 2000). As shown in Figure 5.1., other than Class E, the recommended site factors are consistent with those in the NGA-West 2 models.

Figure 5.2 shows the recommended site factors as a function of V_{S30} for the levels of excitation (specified as values of S_S and S_I) given in the NEHRP tables (Table 5.2). Trends in the plot show the expected patterns of relative V_{S30} -scaling (stronger for F_v than F_a) and nonlinearity (strong for soft soil, decreasing effects for stiff soil and rock; stronger for F_a than F_v).

Table 5.2 compares the current and proposed site factors. Values for F_{PGA} are also shown in the table. The proposed site factors are generally smaller than original values due to the change in reference velocity from 1050 to 760 m/sec. For stronger shaking levels and Class C-D soils, the recommended site factors become close to, or slightly greater than, original values because of reduced levels of nonlinearity, especially at long period (i.e., in the F_v parameter). As noted previously, the nonlinear model, described in Section 4.1, has a substantial effect on the computed factors for Class E. There are relatively large epistemic uncertainties in this model for soft soils. Our introduction of conservatism in the Site Class E factors, as described above, is intended to approximately account for this epistemic uncertainty.



Figure 5.1 Comparison of proposed and current NEHRP site factors with site terms in NGA-West 2 GMPEs normalized to a common reference site condition of V_{ref} = 760 m/sec.



Figure 5.2 Recommended NEHRP site factors for F_a and F_v as function of V_{S30} .

Table 5.2Original (ASCE) and updated (PEER) site amplification factors F_a , F_v , and F_{PGA} .PEER values are rounded to the nearest 0.1 for application in the NEHRP
Provisions.

Site	e S _s < 0.25		S _s =	: 0.5	S _s =	0.75	S _s =	: 1.0	S _s =	1.25	S, >	> 1.5
Class	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE
А	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	na
В	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	na
С	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.2	1.0	1.2	na
D	1.6	1.6	1.4	1.4	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.0	1.0	na
E	2.4	2.5	1.7	1.7	1.3	1.2	1.1	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.8	na

F	a
---	---

F	
	ν

Site	<i>S</i> ₁ <	: 0.1	<i>S</i> ₁ =	= 0.2	<i>S</i> ₁ =	: 0.3	<i>S</i> ₁ =	= 0.4	<i>S</i> ₁ = 0.5		S ₁ > 0.6	
Class	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE
А	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	na
В	0.8	1.0	0.8	1.0	0.8	1.0	0.8	1.0	0.8	1.0	0.8	na
С	1.5	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.5	1.3	1.4	na
D	2.4	2.4	2.2	2.0	2.0	1.8	1.9	1.6	1.8	1.5	1.7	na
E	4.2	3.5	3.3	3.2	2.8	2.8	2.4	2.4	2.2	2.4	2.0	na

Site	PGA < 0.1		PGA < 0.1 PGA = 0.2		PGA = 0.3		PGA = 0.4		PGA = 0.5		PGA > 0.6	
Class	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE	PEER	ASCE
А	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	na
В	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	na
С	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.2	1.0	1.2	na
D	1.6	1.6	1.4	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.1	na
E	2.4	2.5	1.9	1.7	1.6	1.2	1.4	0.9	1.2	0.9	1.1	na

F_{PGA}

6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

6.1 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE

The project reported in this documented (Task 8 of NGA-West2) had as its objectives the development of a proposal for revising the NEHRP site amplification factors and supporting work for NGA-West2 GMPE developers related to site terms and site amplification modeling. As described in Chapter 1, the scope of work undertaken to realize those objectives included:

- Review of the technical basis of the NEHRP factors and NGA site factors
- Comparisons of site amplification factors from NEHRP provisions and the NGA-West 1 models, including interpretation of the principal causes of differences
- Enhancement and development of the site database used to support the NGA-West 2 flatfile [details in Ancheta et al. (2013)]
- Development of a site amplification model using NGA-West 2 data and simulation results
- Producing a proposal for revision of NEHRP site factors and engaging with the NEHRP Provisions Update Committee to see the approval process through to fruition

6.2 PRINCIPAL FINDINGS

The NGA and NEHRP site factors are consistent in certain respects (e.g., the scaling of linear site amplification with V_{S30}), but have discrepancies in linear site amplification (applicable for $PGA_r \le 0.1g$) for site Classes B to E and in the levels of nonlinearity for Classes C and D. The amount of these discrepancies ranges from up to 50% for Class E to amounts ranging from about 0 to 20% for Classes B-D. Previous work has identified similar discrepancies in NEHRP and NGA site factors (Huang et al. 2010), but the discrepancies were not clearly associated with differences in linear site amplification levels and nonlinearities. Such associations are useful to understand causes of misfits and to formulate revisions to NEHRP factors.

A major cause of the weak motion amplification misfit is that the NEHRP factors are normalized relative to a reference site condition of $V_{ref} = 1050$ m/sec, whereas their current application is relative to $V_{S30} = 760$ m/sec. When re-normalized to $V_{S30} = 760$ m/sec, the NEHRP factors are much closer to NGA factors (especially for Class D), although misfits remain for Classes B, C, and E.

We find that the nonlinearity in F_a and F_v from simulation-based work in the 2008 NGA project (WEA08) is smaller than the nonlinearity in the NEHRP factors (Dobry et al. 2000).

Those reduced levels of nonlinearity are consistent with trends from empirical ground motion data from the 2008 NGA project.

Examining the NGA-West 2 data, we find the V_{S30} -scaling to follow regional trends, but the significance of the regional differences is strongly sensitive to the method of data selection. When regional anelastic attenuation effects are considered in the data analysis and the data is extended to large distances, regional site response effects are relatively modest. On the other hand, when a relatively short cut-off distance is used to minimize anelastic attenuation effects (less than approximately 80 km), regional effects are much stronger, especially for Japanese data at short periods. The nonlinearity in site amplification does not show strong evidence of regional variability.

We developed a semi-empirical site amplification model for shallow crustal regions in which V_{S30} -scaling is parameterized using the NGA-West 2 data. The development of that site amplification model is described by SS14; this report presents supporting work that guided model development relative to regional variations in site amplification and levels of nonlinearity implied by simulations. The nonlinear component of the model is constrained jointly by NGA-West 2 data and simulation results.

The complete model (for V_{S30} -scaling and nonlinearity) is used to derive new NEHRP site factors using a reference velocity of 760 m/sec. For relatively weak levels of shaking, the recommended NEHRP site factors are generally smaller than current values due to the change in reference velocity from 1050 to 760 m/sec. For stronger shaking levels and Class C and D soils, the recommended site factors become close to, or slightly greater than, those used currently because of reduced levels of nonlinearity, especially at long period (i.e., in the F_v parameter). Factors for soft soil (Class E) were set conservatively, as were the original NEHRP site factors, to account for larger epistemic uncertainty in the nonlinearity for this site class as compared to others. The new site factors have been approved by the Provisions Update Committee of the Building Seismic Safety Council and are expected to appear in the 2015 version of the NEHRP *Provisions*.

6.3 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The topic of site amplification in GMPEs would benefit from additional research. A few issues raised in this study deserve particular attention. One general area of inquiry would be on the use of site parameters other than V_{S30} to improve site amplification functions (e.g., depth and site period). Such parameters may well be able to explain some of the unresolved questions related to regional variations in site terms, which almost certainly are associated with between-region variations in geologic conditions. Current simulation-based modeling techniques are not able to provide a theoretical justification for the nonlinearity that is observed empirically (e.g., at 3.0 sec period). Further data analysis will also help to clarify whether those observations are robust.

There will always be an element of epistemic uncertainty in site response. Additional research is needed to define methodologies to better capture the range of viable models for site amplification at long periods, including possible nonlinear effects.
REFERENCES

- Abrahamson N.A., Youngs R.R. (1992). A stable algorithm for regression analyses using the random effects model, *Bull. Seismol. Soc. Am.*, 82: 505–510.
- Abrahamson N.A., Silva W.J. (2008). Summary of the Abrahamson and Silva NGA ground motion relations, *Earthq. Spectra*, 24: 67–97.
- Abrahamson, N.A., Silva, W.J., and Kamai, R. (2014). Summary of the Abrahamson, Silva, and Kamai NGA-West 2 ground-motion relations for active crustal regions, *Earthq. Spectra*, This issue (in review).
- Algermissen S.T., Perkins D.M. (1976). A probabilistic estimate of maximum ground acceleration in the contiguous United States, U.S. Geological Survey, USGS Open File Report 76-416.
- Ancheta T.D., Darragh R.B., Stewart J.P., Seyhan E., Silva W.J., Chiou B.S.-J., Wooddell K.E., Graves R.W., Kottke A.R., Boore D.M., Kishida T., Donahue J.L. (2013). PEER NGA-West 2 database, *PEER Report* 2013/03, Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, CA.
- Ancheta, T.D., Darragh, R.B., Stewart, J.P., Seyhan, E., Silva, W.J., Chiou, B.S.J., Wooddell, K.E. Graves, R.W., Kottke, A.R., Boore, D.M., Kishida, T., Donahue, J.L. (2014). NGA-West2 database. *Earthq. Spectra*, In review.
- Boore D.M., Atkinson G.M. (2008). Ground motion prediction equations for the average horizontal component of PGA, PGV, and 5%-damped PSA at spectral periods between 0.01 and 10.0 s, *Earthq. Spectra*, 24: 99–138.
- Boore D.M., Joyner W.B., Fumal T.E. (1997). Equations for estimating horizontal response spectra and peak acceleration from western North American earthquakes: A summary of recent work (with 2005 Erratum)," *Seismol. Res. Letters*, 68:128-153.
- Boore D.M., Stewart J.P., Seyhan E., Atkinson G.M. (2013). NGA-West 2 equations for predicting response spectral accelerations for shallow crustal earthquakes, *PEER Report 2013/05*, Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, CA.
- Boore D.M., Stewart J.P., Seyhan E., and Atkinson G.M. (2014). NGA-West 2 equations for predicting response spectral accelerations for shallow crustal earthquakes, *Earthq. Spectra*, Accepted.
- Borcherdt R.D. (1994a). Simplified site classes and empirical amplification factors for site dependent code provisions, *Proceedings*, 1992 NCEER/SEAOC/BSSC Workshop on Site Response During Earthquakes and Seismic Code Provisions, Los Angeles, California, G.R. Martin (ed.), *Research Special Publication NCEER-94-*SP01, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, Buffalo, NY.
- Borcherdt R.D. (1994b). "Estimates of site-dependent response spectra for design (Methodology and Justification)," *Earthq. Spectra* 10, 617-653.
- Borcherdt R.D. (2012). Implications of NGA for NEHRP site coefficients, U.S. Geological Survey, USGS Open File Report 2012-1269, Menlo Park, CA. Available at: http://pubs.usgs.gov/of/2012/1269/
- Borcherdt R.D., Glassmoyer G. (1994). Influences of local geology on strong and weak ground motions recorded in the San Francisco Bay region and their implications for site-specific building-code provisions, U.S. Geological Survey, The Loma Prieta, California Earthquake of October 17, 1989—Strong Ground Motion, USGS U. S. Professional Paper 1551-A, A77-A108.
- BSSC (1995). NEHRP Recommended Provisions for Seismic Regulations for New Buildings, Building Seismic Safety Council, 1994 ed., Vol. 1 (Provisions) and Vol. 2 (Commentary), Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 222A Report, Washington, DC.
- BSSC (1998). NEHRP Recommended Provisions for Seismic Regulations for New Buildings and Other Structures, 1997 edition, Federal Emergency Management Agency, FEMA 303 Report, Washington, DC.
- BSSC (2003). NEHRP Recommended Provisions for Seismic Regulations for New Buildings and Other Structures," Part 1 (Provisions) and Part 2 (Commentary), Federal Emergency Management Agency, Washington D.C.
- Campbell K.W., Bozorgnia Y. (2008). NGA ground motion model for the geometric mean horizontal component of PGA, PGV, PGD and 5% damped linear elastic response spectra for periods ranging from 0.01 to 10 s, *Earthq. Spectra*, 24: 139–172.
- Campbell K.W., Bozorgnia Y. (2013). NGA-West2 Campbell-Bozorgnia ground motion model for the horizontal components of PGA, PGV, and 5%-damped elastic pseudo-acceleration response spectra for periods ranging from 0.01 to 10 sec, *PEER Report 2013/06*, Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, CA.
- Campbell, K.W., Bozorgnia Y. (2014). NGA-West2 Campbell-Bozorgnia ground motion model for the horizontal components of PGA, PGV, and 5%-damped elastic pseudo-acceleration response spectra for periods ranging from 0.01 to 10 sec, *Earthq. Spectra*, In review.

- Cao T., Bryant W.A., Rowshandel B., Branum D., Wills C.J. (2003). The revised 2002 California probabilistic seismic hazard maps, June 2003, California Geological Survey. Web document: http://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/rghm/psha/fault parameters/pdf/Documents/2002 CA Hazard Maps.pdf
- Chiou B.S.-.J., Youngs R.R. (2008). Chiou and Youngs PEER-NGA empirical ground motion model for the average horizontal component of peak acceleration and pseudo-spectral acceleration for spectral periods of 0.01 to 10 seconds, *Earthq. Spectra*, 24: 173–215.
- Chiou, B.S.-J., Youngs (2012). Updating the Chiou and Youngs NGA model: Regionalization of anelastic attenuation, *Proceedings, 15th World Conf. on Earthquake Engineering*, Sept. 24–28, 2012, Lisbon, Portugal.
- Chiou, B.S.J., and Youngs, R.R. (2014). Update of the Chiou and Youngs NGA model for the average horizontal component of peak ground motion and response spectra, *Earthq. Spectra*, This issue (in review).
- Chiou B.S.-J., Darragh R. Gregor N., Silva W.J. (2008). NGA project strong-motion database, *Earthq. Spectra*, 24: 23–44.
- Choi Y., Stewart J. P. (2005). Nonlinear site amplification as function of 30 m shear wave velocity, *Earthq. Spectra*, 21: 1-30.
- Dobry R., Martin G.M., Parra E. Bhattacharya A., (1994). Development of site-dependent ratios of elastic response spectra (RRS) and site categories for building seismic codes, *Proceedings*, 1992 NCEER/SEAOC/BSSC Workshop on Site Response During Earthquakes and Seismic Code Provisions, Los Angeles, California, G.R. Martin (ed.), *Research Special Publication NCEER-94-SP01*, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, Buffalo, NY.
- Dobry R. Borcherdt R.D., Crouse C.B., Idriss I.M., Joyner W.B., Martin G.R., Power M.S., Rinne E.E., Seed R.B. (2000). New site coefficients and site classification system used in recent building seismic code provisions (1994/1997 NEHRP and 1997 UBC), *Earthq. Spectra*, 16: 41–68.
- Electrical Power Research Institute, EPRI (1993). Guidelines for determining design basis ground motions, Electrical Power Research Institute, *Rpt. No. EPRI TR-102293*, Palo Alto, CA.
- Frankel A., Mueller C., Barnhard T., Perkins D., Leyendecker E.V., Dickman N., Hanson S., Hopper M. (1996). National seismic hazard maps: Documentation June 1996, U.S. Geological Survey, USGS Open File Report 96-532, Denver, CO.
- Huang Y.N., Whittaker A.S., Luco N. (2010). NEHRP site amplification factors and the NGA relationships, *Earthq. Spectra*, 26: 583–593.
- Idriss I.M. (2008). An NGA empirical model for estimating the horizontal spectral values generated by shallow crustal earthquakes, *Earthq. Spectra*, 24: 217–242.
- Idriss I.M. (2014). An NGA-West2 empirical model for estimating the horizontal spectral values generated by shallow crustal earthquakes, *Earthq. Spectra*, This issue (in review).
- Joyner W.B., Fumal T.E., Glassmoyer G. (1994). Empirical spectral response ratios for strong motion data from the 1989 Loma Prieta, California, earthquake," *Proceedings, 1992 NCEER/SEAOC/BSSC Workshop on Site Response During Earthquakes and Seismic Code Provisions*, Los Angeles, California, G.R. Martin (ed.), *Research Special Publication NCEER-94-SP01*, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, Buffalo, NY.
- Kamai, R., Abrahamson, N.A., and Silva, W.J., 2014. Nonlinear horizontal site response for the NGA-West 2 Project, *Earthq. Spectra*, In review.
- Kwok A.O., Stewart J.P. (2006). Evaluation of the effectiveness of theoretical 1D amplification factors for earthquake ground-motion prediction, *Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.*, 96: 1422–1436.
- Martin G.M. (ed.) (1994). Proceedings, 1992 NCEER/SEAOC/BSSC Workshop on Site Response During Earthquakes and Seismic Code Provisions, Los Angeles, California, G.R. Martin (ed.), Research Special Publication NCEER-94-SP01, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, Buffalo, NY.
- Power M., Chiou B.S.-J., Abrahamson N.A., Bozorgnia Y., Shantz T., Roblee C. (2008). An overview of the NGA project, *Earthq. Spectra* 24: 3–21.
- Rowshandel B., Reichle M., Wills C., Cao T., Petersen M., Branum D., Davis, J. (2005). Estimation of future earthquake losses in California," California Geological Survey, Web document: http://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/rghm/loss/Pages/2005 analysis.aspx
- Schnabel P.B., Seed H.B. (1973). Accelerations in rock for earthquakes in the western United States, *Bull. Seism. Soc. Am.*, 63 (2): 501–516.
- Schnabel P.B., Seed H.B., Lysmer J. (1971). Modification of seismic records for effects of local soil conditions, *Report No. UCB/EERC 71–08*, Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, CA.
- Seed H.B., Idriss, I.M. (1970). Soil moduli and moduli damping factors for dynamic response analysis, *Report No. UCB/EERC-70/10*, Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, CA.

- Seed H.B. Wong, R.T., Idriss I.M., Tokimatsu K. (1984). Moduli and damping factors for dynamic analyses of cohesionless soils, *Report No. UCB/EERC/84-14*, Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, CA.
- Seed R.B. Dickenson S.E., Mok C.M. (1994). Site effects on strong shaking and seismic risk; recent developments for seismic design codes and practice, *Proceedings, ASCE Structures Congress*, 12: 573–578.
- Seyhan E., Stewart J.P. (2012). Site response in NEHRP Provisions and NGA models, in: Geotechnical Engineering State of the Art and Practice: Volume of Keynote Lectures from GeoCongress 2012, Oakland, CA, ASCE Geotechnical Special Publication No. 226, K. Rollins and D. Zekkos (eds.), pp. 359–379.
- Seyhan, E. and Stewart, J.P. (2014). Semi-empirical nonlinear site amplification from NGA-West 2 data and simulations, *Earthq. Spectra*, In review.
- Seyhan, E., Stewart, J.P., Ancheta, T.D., Darragh, R.B., and Graves, R.W. (2014). NGA-West 2 site database, *Earthq. Spectra*, In review.
- Silva W.J., Lee K. (1987). WES RASCAL code for synthesizing earthquake ground motions, state-of-the art for assessing earthquake hazards in the United States, *Report 24, U.S. Army Engineers Waterways Experiment Station, Misc. Paper S-73-1.*
- Stewart J.P., Chiou B.S.-J., Bray J.D., Somerville P.G., Graves R.W., Abrahamson N.A. (2001). Ground motion evaluation procedures for performance based design, *Report No. PEER-2001/09*, Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center, Berkeley, CA, 229 pgs.
- Stewart J.P., Midorikawa S., Graves R.W., Khodaverdi K., Miura H. Bozorgnia Y., Campbell K.W. (2013). Implications of Mw 9.0 Tohoku-oki Japan earthquake for ground motion scaling with source, path, and site parameters, *Earthq. Spectra* 29 (S1): S1–21.

Vucetic M., Dobry R. (1991). Effect of soil plasticity on cyclic response, J. Geotech. Eng., 117(1): 89-107.

Walling M. Silva W.J., Abrahamson N.A (2008). Nonlinear site amplification factors for constraining the NGA models, *Earthq. Spectra*, 24: 243–255.

PEER REPORTS

PEER reports are available as a free PDF download from http://peer.berkeley.edu/publications/peer_reports_complete.html. Printed hard copies of PEER reports can be ordered directly from our printer by following the instructions at http://peer.berkeley.edu/publications/peer_reports_complete.html. For other related questions about the PEER Report Series, contact the Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center, 325 Davis Hall mail code 1792, Berkeley, CA 94720. Tel.: (510) 642-3437; Fax: (510) 665-1655; Email: peer_editor@berkeley.edu

- **PEER 2013/21** Seismic Design and Performance of Bridges with Columns on Rocking Foundations. Grigorios Antonellis and Marios Panagiotou. September 2013.
- **PEER 2013/20** Experimental and Analytical Studies on the Seismic Behavior of Conventional and Hybrid Braced Frames. Jiun-Wei Lai and Stephen A. Mahin. September 2013.
- PEER 2013/19 Toward Resilient Communities: A Performance-Based Engineering Framework for Design and Evaluation of the Built Environment. Michael William Mieler, Bozidar Stojadinovic, Robert J. Budnitz, Stephen A. Mahin and Mary C. Comerio. September 2013.
- **PEER 2013/18** Identification of Site Parameters that Improve Predictions of Site Amplification. Ellen M. Rathje and Sara Navidi. July 2013.
- PEER 2013/17 Response Spectrum Analysis of Concrete Gravity Dams Including Dam-Water-Foundation Interaction. Arnkjell Løkke and Anil K. Chopra. July 2013.
- **PEER 2013/16** Effect of hoop reinforcement spacing on the cyclic response of large reinforced concrete special moment frame beams. Marios Panagiotou, Tea Visnjic, Grigorios Antonellis, Panagiotis Galanis, and Jack P. Moehle. June 2013.
- PEER 2013/15 A Probabilistic Framework to Include the Effects of Near-Fault Directivity in Seismic Hazard Assessment. Shrey Kumar Shahi, Jack W. Baker. October 2013.
- **PEER 2013/14** Hanging-Wall Scaling using Finite-Fault Simulations. Jennifer L. Donahue and Norman A. Abrahamson. September 2013.
- **PEER 2013/13** Semi-Empirical Nonlinear Site Amplification and its Application in NEHRP Site Factors. Jonathan P. Stewart and Emel Seyhan. November 2013.
- PEER 2013/12 Nonlinear Horizontal Site Response for the NGA-West2 Project. Ronnie Kamai, Norman A. Abramson, Walter J. Silva. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/11 Epistemic Uncertainty for NGA-West2 Models. Linda AI Atik and Robert R. Youngs. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/10 NGA-West 2 Models for Ground-Motion Directionality. Shrey K. Shahi and Jack W. Baker. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/09 Final Report of the NGA-West2 Directivity Working Group. Paul Spudich, Jeffrey R. Bayless, Jack W. Baker, Brian S.J. Chiou, Badie Rowshandel, Shrey Shahi, and Paul Somerville. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/08 NGA-West2 Model for Estimating Average Horizontal Values of Pseudo-Absolute Spectral Accelerations Generated by Crustal Earthquakes. I. M. Idriss. May 2013.
- **PEER 2013/07** Update of the Chiou and Youngs NGA Ground Motion Model for Average Horizontal Component of Peak Ground Motion and Response Spectra. Brian Chiou and Robert Youngs. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/06 NGA-West2 Campbell-Bozorgnia Ground Motion Model for the Horizontal Components of PGA, PGV, and 5%-Damped Elastic Pseudo-Acceleration Response Spectra for Periods Ranging from 0.01 to 10 sec. Kenneth W. Campbell and Yousef Bozorgnia. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/05 NGA-West 2 Equations for Predicting Response Spectral Accelerations for Shallow Crustal Earthquakes. David M. Boore, Jonathan P. Stewart, Emel Seyhan, Gail M. Atkinson. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/04 Update of the AS08 Ground-Motion Prediction Equations Based on the NGA-West2 Data Set. Norman Abrahamson, Walter Silva, and Ronnie Kamai. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/03 PEER NGA-West2 Database. Timothy D. Ancheta, Robert B. Darragh, Jonathan P. Stewart, Emel Seyhan, Walter J. Silva, Brian S.J. Chiou, Katie E. Wooddell, Robert W. Graves, Albert R. Kottke, David M. Boore, Tadahiro Kishida, and Jennifer L. Donahue. May 2013.
- **PEER 2013/02** *Hybrid Simulation of the Seismic Response of Squat Reinforced Concrete Shear Walls.* Catherine A. Whyte and Bozidar Stojadinovic. May 2013.
- PEER 2013/01 Housing Recovery in Chile: A Qualitative Mid-program Review. Mary C. Comerio. February 2013.

- PEER 2012/08 Guidelines for Estimation of Shear Wave Velocity. Bernard R. Wair, Jason T. DeJong, and Thomas Shantz. December 2012.
- PEER 2012/07 Earthquake Engineering for Resilient Communities: 2012 PEER Internship Program Research Report Collection. Heidi Tremayne (Editor), Stephen A. Mahin (Editor), Collin Anderson, Dustin Cook, Michael Erceg, Carlos Esparza, Jose Jimenez, Dorian Krausz, Andrew Lo, Stephanie Lopez, Nicole McCurdy, Paul Shipman, Alexander Strum, Eduardo Vega. December 2012.
- PEER 2012/06 Fragilities for Precarious Rocks at Yucca Mountain. Matthew D. Purvance, Rasool Anooshehpoor, and James N. Brune. December 2012.
- **PEER 2012/05** Development of Simplified Analysis Procedure for Piles in Laterally Spreading Layered Soils. Christopher R. McGann, Pedro Arduino, and Peter Mackenzie–Helnwein. December 2012.
- PEER 2012/04 Unbonded Pre-Tensioned Columns for Bridges in Seismic Regions. Phillip M. Davis, Todd M. Janes, Marc O. Eberhard, and John F. Stanton. December 2012.
- PEER 2012/03 Experimental and Analytical Studies on Reinforced Concrete Buildings with Seismically Vulnerable Beam-Column Joints. Sangjoon Park and Khalid M. Mosalam. October 2012.
- PEER 2012/02 Seismic Performance of Reinforced Concrete Bridges Allowed to Uplift during Multi-Directional Excitation. Andres Oscar Espinoza and Stephen A. Mahin. July 2012.
- PEER 2012/01 Spectral Damping Scaling Factors for Shallow Crustal Earthquakes in Active Tectonic Regions. Sanaz Rezaeian, Yousef Bozorgnia, I. M. Idriss, Kenneth Campbell, Norman Abrahamson, and Walter Silva. July 2012.
- **PEER 2011/10** Earthquake Engineering for Resilient Communities: 2011 PEER Internship Program Research Report Collection. Eds. Heidi Faison and Stephen A. Mahin. December 2011.
- **PEER 2011/09** Calibration of Semi-Stochastic Procedure for Simulating High-Frequency Ground Motions. Jonathan P. Stewart, Emel Seyhan, and Robert W. Graves. December 2011.
- PEER 2011/08 Water Supply in regard to Fire Following Earthquake. Charles Scawthorn. November 2011.
- **PEER 2011/07** Seismic Risk Management in Urban Areas. Proceedings of a U.S.-Iran-Turkey Seismic Workshop. September 2011.
- PEER 2011/06 The Use of Base Isolation Systems to Achieve Complex Seismic Performance Objectives. Troy A. Morgan and Stephen A. Mahin. July 2011.
- **PEER 2011/05** Case Studies of the Seismic Performance of Tall Buildings Designed by Alternative Means. Task 12 Report for the Tall Buildings Initiative. Jack Moehle, Yousef Bozorgnia, Nirmal Jayaram, Pierson Jones, Mohsen Rahnama, Nilesh Shome, Zeynep Tuna, John Wallace, Tony Yang, and Farzin Zareian. July 2011.
- **PEER 2011/04** Recommended Design Practice for Pile Foundations in Laterally Spreading Ground. Scott A. Ashford, Ross W. Boulanger, and Scott J. Brandenberg. June 2011.
- PEER 2011/03 New Ground Motion Selection Procedures and Selected Motions for the PEER Transportation Research Program. Jack W. Baker, Ting Lin, Shrey K. Shahi, and Nirmal Jayaram. March 2011.
- **PEER 2011/02** A Bayesian Network Methodology for Infrastructure Seismic Risk Assessment and Decision Support. Michelle T. Bensi, Armen Der Kiureghian, and Daniel Straub. March 2011.
- PEER 2011/01 Demand Fragility Surfaces for Bridges in Liquefied and Laterally Spreading Ground. Scott J. Brandenberg, Jian Zhang, Pirooz Kashighandi, Yili Huo, and Minxing Zhao. March 2011.
- **PEER 2010/05** Guidelines for Performance-Based Seismic Design of Tall Buildings. Developed by the Tall Buildings Initiative. November 2010.
- **PEER 2010/04** Application Guide for the Design of Flexible and Rigid Bus Connections between Substation Equipment Subjected to Earthquakes. Jean-Bernard Dastous and Armen Der Kiureghian. September 2010.
- **PEER 2010/03** Shear Wave Velocity as a Statistical Function of Standard Penetration Test Resistance and Vertical Effective Stress at Caltrans Bridge Sites. Scott J. Brandenberg, Naresh Bellana, and Thomas Shantz. June 2010.
- **PEER 2010/02** Stochastic Modeling and Simulation of Ground Motions for Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Sanaz Rezaeian and Armen Der Kiureghian. June 2010.
- PEER 2010/01 Structural Response and Cost Characterization of Bridge Construction Using Seismic Performance Enhancement Strategies. Ady Aviram, Božidar Stojadinović, Gustavo J. Parra-Montesinos, and Kevin R. Mackie. March 2010.
- **PEER 2009/03** The Integration of Experimental and Simulation Data in the Study of Reinforced Concrete Bridge Systems Including Soil-Foundation-Structure Interaction. Matthew Dryden and Gregory L. Fenves. November 2009.
- **PEER 2009/02** Improving Earthquake Mitigation through Innovations and Applications in Seismic Science, Engineering, Communication, and Response. Proceedings of a U.S.-Iran Seismic Workshop. October 2009.

Technical Manual for Strata. Albert R. Kottke and Ellen M. Rathje. February 2009. PEER 2008/10 PEER 2008/09 NGA Model for Average Horizontal Component of Peak Ground Motion and Response Spectra. Brian S.-J. Chiou and Robert R. Youngs. November 2008. PEER 2008/08 Toward Earthquake-Resistant Design of Concentrically Braced Steel Structures. Patxi Uriz and Stephen A. Mahin. November 2008. PEER 2008/07 Using OpenSees for Performance-Based Evaluation of Bridges on Liquefiable Soils. Stephen L. Kramer, Pedro Arduino, and HyungSuk Shin. November 2008. PEER 2008/06 Shaking Table Tests and Numerical Investigation of Self-Centering Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns. Hyung IL Jeong, Junichi Sakai, and Stephen A. Mahin. September 2008. PEER 2008/05 Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Design Evaluation Procedure for Bridge Foundations Undergoing Liquefaction-Induced Lateral Ground Displacement. Christian A. Ledezma and Jonathan D. Bray. August 2008. PEER 2008/04 Benchmarking of Nonlinear Geotechnical Ground Response Analysis Procedures. Jonathan P. Stewart, Annie On-Lei Kwok, Yousseff M. A. Hashash, Neven Matasovic, Robert Pyke, Zhiliang Wang, and Zhaohui Yang. August 2008. PEER 2008/03 Guidelines for Nonlinear Analysis of Bridge Structures in California. Ady Aviram, Kevin R. Mackie, and Božidar Stojadinović. August 2008. PEER 2008/02 Treatment of Uncertainties in Seismic-Risk Analysis of Transportation Systems. Evangelos Stergiou and Anne S. Kiremidjian. July 2008. PEER 2008/01 Seismic Performance Objectives for Tall Buildings. William T. Holmes, Charles Kircher, William Petak, and Nabih Youssef. August 2008. PEER 2007/12 An Assessment to Benchmark the Seismic Performance of a Code-Conforming Reinforced Concrete Moment-Frame Building. Curt Haselton, Christine A. Goulet, Judith Mitrani-Reiser, James L. Beck, Gregory G. Deierlein, Keith A. Porter, Jonathan P. Stewart, and Ertugrul Taciroglu. August 2008. PEER 2007/11 Bar Buckling in Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns. Wayne A. Brown, Dawn E. Lehman, and John F. Stanton. February 2008. PEER 2007/10 Computational Modeling of Progressive Collapse in Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures. Mohamed M. Talaat and Khalid M. Mosalam. May 2008. PEER 2007/09 Integrated Probabilistic Performance-Based Evaluation of Benchmark Reinforced Concrete Bridges. Kevin R. Mackie, John-Michael Wong, and Božidar Stojadinović. January 2008. Assessing Seismic Collapse Safety of Modern Reinforced Concrete Moment-Frame Buildings. Curt B. Haselton PEER 2007/08 and Gregory G. Deierlein. February 2008. PEER 2007/07 Performance Modeling Strategies for Modern Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns. Michael P. Berry and Marc O. Eberhard. April 2008. PEER 2007/06 Development of Improved Procedures for Seismic Design of Buried and Partially Buried Structures. Linda Al Atik and Nicholas Sitar. June 2007. PEER 2007/05 Uncertainty and Correlation in Seismic Risk Assessment of Transportation Systems. Renee G. Lee and Anne S. Kiremidjian. July 2007. PEER 2007/04 Numerical Models for Analysis and Performance-Based Design of Shallow Foundations Subjected to Seismic Loading. Sivapalan Gajan, Tara C. Hutchinson, Bruce L. Kutter, Prishati Raychowdhury, José A. Ugalde, and Jonathan P. Stewart. May 2008. PEER 2007/03 Beam-Column Element Model Calibrated for Predicting Flexural Response Leading to Global Collapse of RC Frame Buildings. Curt B. Haselton, Abbie B. Liel, Sarah Taylor Lange, and Gregory G. Deierlein. May 2008. Campbell-Bozorgnia NGA Ground Motion Relations for the Geometric Mean Horizontal Component of Peak and PEER 2007/02 Spectral Ground Motion Parameters. Kenneth W. Campbell and Yousef Bozorgnia. May 2007. PEER 2007/01 Boore-Atkinson NGA Ground Motion Relations for the Geometric Mean Horizontal Component of Peak and Spectral Ground Motion Parameters. David M. Boore and Gail M. Atkinson. May. May 2007. PEER 2006/12 Societal Implications of Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Peter J. May. May 2007. PEER 2006/11 Probabilistic Seismic Demand Analysis Using Advanced Ground Motion Intensity Measures, Attenuation Relationships, and Near-Fault Effects. Polsak Tothong and C. Allin Cornell. March 2007.

Evaluation of Ground Motion Selection and Modification Methods: Predicting Median Interstory Drift Response of

PEER 2009/01

Buildings. Curt B. Haselton, Ed. June 2009.

- PEER 2006/10 Application of the PEER PBEE Methodology to the I-880 Viaduct. Sashi Kunnath. February 2007.
- **PEER 2006/09** *Quantifying Economic Losses from Travel Forgone Following a Large Metropolitan Earthquake.* James Moore, Sungbin Cho, Yue Yue Fan, and Stuart Werner. November 2006.
- PEER 2006/08 Vector-Valued Ground Motion Intensity Measures for Probabilistic Seismic Demand Analysis. Jack W. Baker and C. Allin Cornell. October 2006.
- PEER 2006/07 Analytical Modeling of Reinforced Concrete Walls for Predicting Flexural and Coupled–Shear-Flexural Responses. Kutay Orakcal, Leonardo M. Massone, and John W. Wallace. October 2006.
- **PEER 2006/06** Nonlinear Analysis of a Soil-Drilled Pier System under Static and Dynamic Axial Loading. Gang Wang and Nicholas Sitar. November 2006.
- PEER 2006/05 Advanced Seismic Assessment Guidelines. Paolo Bazzurro, C. Allin Cornell, Charles Menun, Maziar Motahari, and Nicolas Luco. September 2006.
- PEER 2006/04 Probabilistic Seismic Evaluation of Reinforced Concrete Structural Components and Systems. Tae Hyung Lee and Khalid M. Mosalam. August 2006.
- PEER 2006/03 Performance of Lifelines Subjected to Lateral Spreading. Scott A. Ashford and Teerawut Juirnarongrit. July 2006.
- PEER 2006/02 Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center Highway Demonstration Project. Anne Kiremidjian, James Moore, Yue Yue Fan, Nesrin Basoz, Ozgur Yazali, and Meredith Williams. April 2006.
- **PEER 2006/01** Bracing Berkeley. A Guide to Seismic Safety on the UC Berkeley Campus. Mary C. Comerio, Stephen Tobriner, and Ariane Fehrenkamp. January 2006.
- PEER 2005/16 Seismic Response and Reliability of Electrical Substation Equipment and Systems. Junho Song, Armen Der Kiureghian, and Jerome L. Sackman. April 2006.
- **PEER 2005/15** CPT-Based Probabilistic Assessment of Seismic Soil Liquefaction Initiation. R. E. S. Moss, R. B. Seed, R. E. Kayen, J. P. Stewart, and A. Der Kiureghian. April 2006.
- PEER 2005/14 Workshop on Modeling of Nonlinear Cyclic Load-Deformation Behavior of Shallow Foundations. Bruce L. Kutter, Geoffrey Martin, Tara Hutchinson, Chad Harden, Sivapalan Gajan, and Justin Phalen. March 2006.
- PEER 2005/13 Stochastic Characterization and Decision Bases under Time-Dependent Aftershock Risk in Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Gee Liek Yeo and C. Allin Cornell. July 2005.
- PEER 2005/12 PEER Testbed Study on a Laboratory Building: Exercising Seismic Performance Assessment. Mary C. Comerio, editor. November 2005.
- PEER 2005/11 Van Nuys Hotel Building Testbed Report: Exercising Seismic Performance Assessment. Helmut Krawinkler, editor. October 2005.
- PEER 2005/10 First NEES/E-Defense Workshop on Collapse Simulation of Reinforced Concrete Building Structures. September 2005.
- PEER 2005/09 Test Applications of Advanced Seismic Assessment Guidelines. Joe Maffei, Karl Telleen, Danya Mohr, William Holmes, and Yuki Nakayama. August 2006.
- PEER 2005/08 Damage Accumulation in Lightly Confined Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns. R. Tyler Ranf, Jared M. Nelson, Zach Price, Marc O. Eberhard, and John F. Stanton. April 2006.
- **PEER 2005/07** Experimental and Analytical Studies on the Seismic Response of Freestanding and Anchored Laboratory Equipment. Dimitrios Konstantinidis and Nicos Makris. January 2005.
- PEER 2005/06 Global Collapse of Frame Structures under Seismic Excitations. Luis F. Ibarra and Helmut Krawinkler. September 2005.
- **PEER 2005//05** Performance Characterization of Bench- and Shelf-Mounted Equipment. Samit Ray Chaudhuri and Tara C. Hutchinson. May 2006.
- PEER 2005/04 Numerical Modeling of the Nonlinear Cyclic Response of Shallow Foundations. Chad Harden, Tara Hutchinson, Geoffrey R. Martin, and Bruce L. Kutter. August 2005.
- **PEER 2005/03** A Taxonomy of Building Components for Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Keith A. Porter. September 2005.
- PEER 2005/02 Fragility Basis for California Highway Overpass Bridge Seismic Decision Making. Kevin R. Mackie and Božidar Stojadinović. June 2005.
- PEER 2005/01 Empirical Characterization of Site Conditions on Strong Ground Motion. Jonathan P. Stewart, Yoojoong Choi, and Robert W. Graves. June 2005.

PEER 2004/09 Electrical Substation Equipment Interaction: Experimental Rigid Conductor Studies. Christopher Stearns and André Filiatrault. February 2005. PEER 2004/08 Seismic Qualification and Fragility Testing of Line Break 550-kV Disconnect Switches. Shakhzod M. Takhirov, Gregory L. Fenves, and Eric Fujisaki. January 2005. Ground Motions for Earthquake Simulator Qualification of Electrical Substation Equipment. Shakhzod M. PEER 2004/07 Takhirov, Gregory L. Fenves, Eric Fujisaki, and Don Clyde. January 2005. PEER 2004/06 Performance-Based Regulation and Regulatory Regimes. Peter J. May and Chris Koski. September 2004. PEER 2004/05 Performance-Based Seismic Design Concepts and Implementation: Proceedings of an International Workshop. Peter Fajfar and Helmut Krawinkler, editors. September 2004. PEER 2004/04 Seismic Performance of an Instrumented Tilt-up Wall Building. James C. Anderson and Vitelmo V. Bertero. July 2004. PEER 2004/03 Evaluation and Application of Concrete Tilt-up Assessment Methodologies. Timothy Graf and James O. Malley. October 2004. PEER 2004/02 Analytical Investigations of New Methods for Reducing Residual Displacements of Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns. Junichi Sakai and Stephen A. Mahin. August 2004. PEER 2004/01 Seismic Performance of Masonry Buildings and Design Implications. Kerri Anne Taeko Tokoro, James C. Anderson, and Vitelmo V. Bertero. February 2004. PEER 2003/18 Performance Models for Flexural Damage in Reinforced Concrete Columns. Michael Berry and Marc Eberhard. August 2003. PEER 2003/17 Predicting Earthquake Damage in Older Reinforced Concrete Beam-Column Joints. Catherine Pagni and Laura Lowes. October 2004. PEER 2003/16 Seismic Demands for Performance-Based Design of Bridges. Kevin Mackie and Božidar Stojadinović. August 2003 PEER 2003/15 Seismic Demands for Nondeteriorating Frame Structures and Their Dependence on Ground Motions. Ricardo Antonio Medina and Helmut Krawinkler. May 2004. PEER 2003/14 Finite Element Reliability and Sensitivity Methods for Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Terje Haukaas and Armen Der Kiureghian. April 2004. Effects of Connection Hysteretic Degradation on the Seismic Behavior of Steel Moment-Resisting Frames. Janise PEER 2003/13 E. Rodgers and Stephen A. Mahin. March 2004. PEER 2003/12 Implementation Manual for the Seismic Protection of Laboratory Contents: Format and Case Studies. William T. Holmes and Mary C. Comerio. October 2003. PEER 2003/11 Fifth U.S.-Japan Workshop on Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Methodology for Reinforced Concrete Building Structures. February 2004. PEER 2003/10 A Beam-Column Joint Model for Simulating the Earthquake Response of Reinforced Concrete Frames. Laura N. Lowes, Nilanjan Mitra, and Arash Altoontash. February 2004. PEER 2003/09 Sequencing Repairs after an Earthquake: An Economic Approach. Marco Casari and Simon J. Wilkie. April 2004. PEER 2003/08 A Technical Framework for Probability-Based Demand and Capacity Factor Design (DCFD) Seismic Formats. Fatemeh Jalayer and C. Allin Cornell. November 2003. PEER 2003/07 Uncertainty Specification and Propagation for Loss Estimation Using FOSM Methods. Jack W. Baker and C. Allin Cornell. September 2003. PEER 2003/06 Performance of Circular Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns under Bidirectional Earthquake Loading. Mahmoud M. Hachem, Stephen A. Mahin, and Jack P. Moehle. February 2003. PEER 2003/05 Response Assessment for Building-Specific Loss Estimation. Eduardo Miranda and Shahram Taghavi. September 2003. PEER 2003/04 Experimental Assessment of Columns with Short Lap Splices Subjected to Cyclic Loads. Murat Melek, John W. Wallace, and Joel Conte. April 2003. PEER 2003/03 Probabilistic Response Assessment for Building-Specific Loss Estimation. Eduardo Miranda and Hesameddin Aslani. September 2003. PEER 2003/02 Software Framework for Collaborative Development of Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis Program. Jun Peng and Kincho H. Law. September 2003.

- PEER 2003/01 Shake Table Tests and Analytical Studies on the Gravity Load Collapse of Reinforced Concrete Frames. Kenneth John Elwood and Jack P. Moehle. November 2003.
- PEER 2002/24 Performance of Beam to Column Bridge Joints Subjected to a Large Velocity Pulse. Natalie Gibson, André Filiatrault, and Scott A. Ashford. April 2002.
- PEER 2002/23 Effects of Large Velocity Pulses on Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns. Greg L. Orozco and Scott A. Ashford. April 2002.
- PEER 2002/22 Characterization of Large Velocity Pulses for Laboratory Testing. Kenneth E. Cox and Scott A. Ashford. April 2002.
- **PEER 2002/21** Fourth U.S.-Japan Workshop on Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Methodology for Reinforced Concrete Building Structures. December 2002.
- PEER 2002/20 Barriers to Adoption and Implementation of PBEE Innovations. Peter J. May. August 2002.
- PEER 2002/19 Economic-Engineered Integrated Models for Earthquakes: Socioeconomic Impacts. Peter Gordon, James E. Moore II, and Harry W. Richardson. July 2002.
- PEER 2002/18 Assessment of Reinforced Concrete Building Exterior Joints with Substandard Details. Chris P. Pantelides, Jon Hansen, Justin Nadauld, and Lawrence D. Reaveley. May 2002.
- **PEER 2002/17** Structural Characterization and Seismic Response Analysis of a Highway Overcrossing Equipped with Elastomeric Bearings and Fluid Dampers: A Case Study. Nicos Makris and Jian Zhang. November 2002.
- PEER 2002/16 Estimation of Uncertainty in Geotechnical Properties for Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Allen L. Jones, Steven L. Kramer, and Pedro Arduino. December 2002.
- PEER 2002/15 Seismic Behavior of Bridge Columns Subjected to Various Loading Patterns. Asadollah Esmaeily-Gh. and Yan Xiao. December 2002.
- PEER 2002/14 Inelastic Seismic Response of Extended Pile Shaft Supported Bridge Structures. T.C. Hutchinson, R.W. Boulanger, Y.H. Chai, and I.M. Idriss. December 2002.
- PEER 2002/13 Probabilistic Models and Fragility Estimates for Bridge Components and Systems. Paolo Gardoni, Armen Der Kiureghian, and Khalid M. Mosalam. June 2002.
- PEER 2002/12 Effects of Fault Dip and Slip Rake on Near-Source Ground Motions: Why Chi-Chi Was a Relatively Mild M7.6 Earthquake. Brad T. Aagaard, John F. Hall, and Thomas H. Heaton. December 2002.
- PEER 2002/11 Analytical and Experimental Study of Fiber-Reinforced Strip Isolators. James M. Kelly and Shakhzod M. Takhirov. September 2002.
- PEER 2002/10 Centrifuge Modeling of Settlement and Lateral Spreading with Comparisons to Numerical Analyses. Sivapalan Gajan and Bruce L. Kutter. January 2003.
- PEER 2002/09 Documentation and Analysis of Field Case Histories of Seismic Compression during the 1994 Northridge, California, Earthquake. Jonathan P. Stewart, Patrick M. Smith, Daniel H. Whang, and Jonathan D. Bray. October 2002.
- **PEER 2002/08** Component Testing, Stability Analysis and Characterization of Buckling-Restrained Unbonded Braces[™]. Cameron Black, Nicos Makris, and Ian Aiken. September 2002.
- PEER 2002/07 Seismic Performance of Pile-Wharf Connections. Charles W. Roeder, Robert Graff, Jennifer Soderstrom, and Jun Han Yoo. December 2001.
- **PEER 2002/06** The Use of Benefit-Cost Analysis for Evaluation of Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Decisions. Richard O. Zerbe and Anthony Falit-Baiamonte. September 2001.
- PEER 2002/05 Guidelines, Specifications, and Seismic Performance Characterization of Nonstructural Building Components and Equipment. André Filiatrault, Constantin Christopoulos, and Christopher Stearns. September 2001.
- PEER 2002/04 Consortium of Organizations for Strong-Motion Observation Systems and the Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center Lifelines Program: Invited Workshop on Archiving and Web Dissemination of Geotechnical Data, 4–5 October 2001. September 2002.
- **PEER 2002/03** Investigation of Sensitivity of Building Loss Estimates to Major Uncertain Variables for the Van Nuys Testbed. Keith A. Porter, James L. Beck, and Rustem V. Shaikhutdinov. August 2002.
- **PEER 2002/02** The Third U.S.-Japan Workshop on Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Methodology for Reinforced Concrete Building Structures. July 2002.
- PEER 2002/01 Nonstructural Loss Estimation: The UC Berkeley Case Study. Mary C. Comerio and John C. Stallmeyer. December 2001.

- PEER 2001/16 Statistics of SDF-System Estimate of Roof Displacement for Pushover Analysis of Buildings. Anil K. Chopra, Rakesh K. Goel, and Chatpan Chintanapakdee. December 2001.
- PEER 2001/15 Damage to Bridges during the 2001 Nisqually Earthquake. R. Tyler Ranf, Marc O. Eberhard, and Michael P. Berry. November 2001.
- **PEER 2001/14** Rocking Response of Equipment Anchored to a Base Foundation. Nicos Makris and Cameron J. Black. September 2001.
- PEER 2001/13 Modeling Soil Liquefaction Hazards for Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Steven L. Kramer and Ahmed-W. Elgamal. February 2001.
- PEER 2001/12 Development of Geotechnical Capabilities in OpenSees. Boris Jeremić. September 2001.
- PEER 2001/11 Analytical and Experimental Study of Fiber-Reinforced Elastomeric Isolators. James M. Kelly and Shakhzod M. Takhirov. September 2001.
- PEER 2001/10 Amplification Factors for Spectral Acceleration in Active Regions. Jonathan P. Stewart, Andrew H. Liu, Yoojoong Choi, and Mehmet B. Baturay. December 2001.
- PEER 2001/09 Ground Motion Evaluation Procedures for Performance-Based Design. Jonathan P. Stewart, Shyh-Jeng Chiou, Jonathan D. Bray, Robert W. Graves, Paul G. Somerville, and Norman A. Abrahamson. September 2001.
- **PEER 2001/08** Experimental and Computational Evaluation of Reinforced Concrete Bridge Beam-Column Connections for Seismic Performance. Clay J. Naito, Jack P. Moehle, and Khalid M. Mosalam. November 2001.
- **PEER 2001/07** The Rocking Spectrum and the Shortcomings of Design Guidelines. Nicos Makris and Dimitrios Konstantinidis. August 2001.
- **PEER 2001/06** Development of an Electrical Substation Equipment Performance Database for Evaluation of Equipment Fragilities. Thalia Agnanos. April 1999.
- PEER 2001/05 Stiffness Analysis of Fiber-Reinforced Elastomeric Isolators. Hsiang-Chuan Tsai and James M. Kelly. May 2001.
- PEER 2001/04 Organizational and Societal Considerations for Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering. Peter J. May. April 2001.
- **PEER 2001/03** A Modal Pushover Analysis Procedure to Estimate Seismic Demands for Buildings: Theory and Preliminary Evaluation. Anil K. Chopra and Rakesh K. Goel. January 2001.
- PEER 2001/02 Seismic Response Analysis of Highway Overcrossings Including Soil-Structure Interaction. Jian Zhang and Nicos Makris. March 2001.
- **PEER 2001/01** Experimental Study of Large Seismic Steel Beam-to-Column Connections. Egor P. Popov and Shakhzod M. Takhirov. November 2000.
- PEER 2000/10 The Second U.S.-Japan Workshop on Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Methodology for Reinforced Concrete Building Structures. March 2000.
- PEER 2000/09 Structural Engineering Reconnaissance of the August 17, 1999 Earthquake: Kocaeli (Izmit), Turkey. Halil Sezen, Kenneth J. Elwood, Andrew S. Whittaker, Khalid Mosalam, John J. Wallace, and John F. Stanton. December 2000.
- PEER 2000/08 Behavior of Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns Having Varying Aspect Ratios and Varying Lengths of Confinement. Anthony J. Calderone, Dawn E. Lehman, and Jack P. Moehle. January 2001.
- PEER 2000/07 Cover-Plate and Flange-Plate Reinforced Steel Moment-Resisting Connections. Taejin Kim, Andrew S. Whittaker, Amir S. Gilani, Vitelmo V. Bertero, and Shakhzod M. Takhirov. September 2000.
- PEER 2000/06 Seismic Evaluation and Analysis of 230-kV Disconnect Switches. Amir S. J. Gilani, Andrew S. Whittaker, Gregory L. Fenves, Chun-Hao Chen, Henry Ho, and Eric Fujisaki. July 2000.
- PEER 2000/05 Performance-Based Evaluation of Exterior Reinforced Concrete Building Joints for Seismic Excitation. Chandra Clyde, Chris P. Pantelides, and Lawrence D. Reaveley. July 2000.
- PEER 2000/04 An Evaluation of Seismic Energy Demand: An Attenuation Approach. Chung-Che Chou and Chia-Ming Uang. July 1999.
- **PEER 2000/03** Framing Earthquake Retrofitting Decisions: The Case of Hillside Homes in Los Angeles. Detlof von Winterfeldt, Nels Roselund, and Alicia Kitsuse. March 2000.
- PEER 2000/02 U.S.-Japan Workshop on the Effects of Near-Field Earthquake Shaking. Andrew Whittaker, ed. July 2000.
- PEER 2000/01 Further Studies on Seismic Interaction in Interconnected Electrical Substation Equipment. Armen Der Kiureghian, Kee-Jeung Hong, and Jerome L. Sackman. November 1999.

- PEER 1999/14 Seismic Evaluation and Retrofit of 230-kV Porcelain Transformer Bushings. Amir S. Gilani, Andrew S. Whittaker, Gregory L. Fenves, and Eric Fujisaki. December 1999.
- PEER 1999/13 Building Vulnerability Studies: Modeling and Evaluation of Tilt-up and Steel Reinforced Concrete Buildings. John W. Wallace, Jonathan P. Stewart, and Andrew S. Whittaker, editors. December 1999.
- PEER 1999/12 Rehabilitation of Nonductile RC Frame Building Using Encasement Plates and Energy-Dissipating Devices. Mehrdad Sasani, Vitelmo V. Bertero, James C. Anderson. December 1999.
- PEER 1999/11 Performance Evaluation Database for Concrete Bridge Components and Systems under Simulated Seismic Loads. Yael D. Hose and Frieder Seible. November 1999.
- PEER 1999/10 U.S.-Japan Workshop on Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Methodology for Reinforced Concrete Building Structures. December 1999.
- PEER 1999/09 Performance Improvement of Long Period Building Structures Subjected to Severe Pulse-Type Ground Motions. James C. Anderson, Vitelmo V. Bertero, and Raul Bertero. October 1999.
- PEER 1999/08 Envelopes for Seismic Response Vectors. Charles Menun and Armen Der Kiureghian. July 1999.
- PEER 1999/07 Documentation of Strengths and Weaknesses of Current Computer Analysis Methods for Seismic Performance of Reinforced Concrete Members. William F. Cofer. November 1999.
- PEER 1999/06 Rocking Response and Overturning of Anchored Equipment under Seismic Excitations. Nicos Makris and Jian Zhang. November 1999.
- PEER 1999/05 Seismic Evaluation of 550 kV Porcelain Transformer Bushings. Amir S. Gilani, Andrew S. Whittaker, Gregory L. Fenves, and Eric Fujisaki. October 1999.
- PEER 1999/04 Adoption and Enforcement of Earthquake Risk-Reduction Measures. Peter J. May, Raymond J. Burby, T. Jens Feeley, and Robert Wood.
- **PEER 1999/03** Task 3 Characterization of Site Response General Site Categories. Adrian Rodriguez-Marek, Jonathan D. Bray, and Norman Abrahamson. February 1999.
- PEER 1999/02 Capacity-Demand-Diagram Methods for Estimating Seismic Deformation of Inelastic Structures: SDF Systems. Anil K. Chopra and Rakesh Goel. April 1999.
- PEER 1999/01 Interaction in Interconnected Electrical Substation Equipment Subjected to Earthquake Ground Motions. Armen Der Kiureghian, Jerome L. Sackman, and Kee-Jeung Hong. February 1999.
- PEER 1998/08 Behavior and Failure Analysis of a Multiple-Frame Highway Bridge in the 1994 Northridge Earthquake. Gregory L. Fenves and Michael Ellery. December 1998.
- PEER 1998/07 Empirical Evaluation of Inertial Soil-Structure Interaction Effects. Jonathan P. Stewart, Raymond B. Seed, and Gregory L. Fenves. November 1998.
- PEER 1998/06 Effect of Damping Mechanisms on the Response of Seismic Isolated Structures. Nicos Makris and Shih-Po Chang. November 1998.
- **PEER 1998/05** Rocking Response and Overturning of Equipment under Horizontal Pulse-Type Motions. Nicos Makris and Yiannis Roussos. October 1998.
- PEER 1998/04 Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Invitational Workshop Proceedings, May 14–15, 1998: Defining the Links between Planning, Policy Analysis, Economics and Earthquake Engineering. Mary Comerio and Peter Gordon. September 1998.
- PEER 1998/03 Repair/Upgrade Procedures for Welded Beam to Column Connections. James C. Anderson and Xiaojing Duan. May 1998.
- **PEER 1998/02** Seismic Evaluation of 196 kV Porcelain Transformer Bushings. Amir S. Gilani, Juan W. Chavez, Gregory L. Fenves, and Andrew S. Whittaker. May 1998.
- PEER 1998/01 Seismic Performance of Well-Confined Concrete Bridge Columns. Dawn E. Lehman and Jack P. Moehle. December 2000.

ONLINE PEER REPORTS

The following PEER reports are available by Internet only at http://peer.berkeley.edu/publications/peer_reports_complete.html.

- PEER 2012/103 Performance-Based Seismic Demand Assessment of Concentrically Braced Steel Frame Buildings. Chui-Hsin Chen and Stephen A. Mahin. December 2012.
- PEER 2012/102 Procedure to Restart an Interrupted Hybrid Simulation: Addendum to PEER Report 2010/103. Vesna Terzic and Bozidar Stojadinovic. October 2012.
- PEER 2012/101 Mechanics of Fiber Reinforced Bearings. James M. Kelly and Andrea Calabrese. February 2012.
- PEER 2011/107 Nonlinear Site Response and Seismic Compression at Vertical Array Strongly Shaken by 2007 Niigata-ken Chuetsu-oki Earthquake. Eric Yee, Jonathan P. Stewart, and Kohji Tokimatsu. December 2011.
- PEER 2011/106 Self Compacting Hybrid Fiber Reinforced Concrete Composites for Bridge Columns. Pardeep Kumar, Gabriel Jen, William Trono, Marios Panagiotou, and Claudia Ostertag. September 2011.
- PEER 2011/105 Stochastic Dynamic Analysis of Bridges Subjected to Spacially Varying Ground Motions. Katerina Konakli and Armen Der Kiureghian. August 2011.
- PEER 2011/104 Design and Instrumentation of the 2010 E-Defense Four-Story Reinforced Concrete and Post-Tensioned Concrete Buildings. Takuya Nagae, Kenichi Tahara, Taizo Matsumori, Hitoshi Shiohara, Toshimi Kabeyasawa, Susumu Kono, Minehiro Nishiyama (Japanese Research Team) and John Wallace, Wassim Ghannoum, Jack Moehle, Richard Sause, Wesley Keller, Zeynep Tuna (U.S. Research Team). June 2011.
- PEER 2011/103 In-Situ Monitoring of the Force Output of Fluid Dampers: Experimental Investigation. Dimitrios Konstantinidis, James M. Kelly, and Nicos Makris. April 2011.
- PEER 2011/102 Ground-motion prediction equations 1964 2010. John Douglas. April 2011.
- PEER 2011/101 Report of the Eighth Planning Meeting of NEES/E-Defense Collaborative Research on Earthquake Engineering. Convened by the Hyogo Earthquake Engineering Research Center (NIED), NEES Consortium, Inc. February 2011.
- PEER 2010/111 Modeling and Acceptance Criteria for Seismic Design and Analysis of Tall Buildings. Task 7 Report for the Tall Buildings Initiative Published jointly by the Applied Technology Council. October 2010.
- PEER 2010/110 Seismic Performance Assessment and Probabilistic Repair Cost Analysis of Precast Concrete Cladding Systems for Multistory Buildlings. Jeffrey P. Hunt and Božidar Stojadinovic. November 2010.
- **PEER 2010/109** Report of the Seventh Joint Planning Meeting of NEES/E-Defense Collaboration on Earthquake Engineering. Held at the E-Defense, Miki, and Shin-Kobe, Japan, September 18–19, 2009. August 2010.
- PEER 2010/108 Probabilistic Tsunami Hazard in California. Hong Kie Thio, Paul Somerville, and Jascha Polet, preparers. October 2010.
- PEER 2010/107 Performance and Reliability of Exposed Column Base Plate Connections for Steel Moment-Resisting Frames. Ady Aviram, Božidar Stojadinovic, and Armen Der Kiureghian. August 2010.
- **PEER 2010/106** Verification of Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Analysis Computer Programs. Patricia Thomas, Ivan Wong, and Norman Abrahamson. May 2010.
- PEER 2010/105 Structural Engineering Reconnaissance of the April 6, 2009, Abruzzo, Italy, Earthquake, and Lessons Learned. M. Selim Günay and Khalid M. Mosalam. April 2010.
- **PEER 2010/104** Simulating the Inelastic Seismic Behavior of Steel Braced Frames, Including the Effects of Low-Cycle Fatigue. Yuli Huang and Stephen A. Mahin. April 2010.
- PEER 2010/103 Post-Earthquake Traffic Capacity of Modern Bridges in California. Vesna Terzic and Božidar Stojadinović. March 2010.
- **PEER 2010/102** Analysis of Cumulative Absolute Velocity (CAV) and JMA Instrumental Seismic Intensity (I_{JMA}) Using the PEER– NGA Strong Motion Database. Kenneth W. Campbell and Yousef Bozorgnia. February 2010.
- PEER 2010/101 Rocking Response of Bridges on Shallow Foundations. Jose A. Ugalde, Bruce L. Kutter, and Boris Jeremic. April 2010.
- PEER 2009/109 Simulation and Performance-Based Earthquake Engineering Assessment of Self-Centering Post-Tensioned Concrete Bridge Systems. Won K. Lee and Sarah L. Billington. December 2009.
- PEER 2009/108 PEER Lifelines Geotechnical Virtual Data Center. J. Carl Stepp, Daniel J. Ponti, Loren L. Turner, Jennifer N. Swift, Sean Devlin, Yang Zhu, Jean Benoit, and John Bobbitt. September 2009.
- **PEER 2009/107** Experimental and Computational Evaluation of Current and Innovative In-Span Hinge Details in Reinforced Concrete Box-Girder Bridges: Part 2: Post-Test Analysis and Design Recommendations. Matias A. Hube and Khalid M. Mosalam. December 2009.

- PEER 2009/106 Shear Strength Models of Exterior Beam-Column Joints without Transverse Reinforcement. Sangjoon Park and Khalid M. Mosalam. November 2009.
- **PEER 2009/105** Reduced Uncertainty of Ground Motion Prediction Equations through Bayesian Variance Analysis. Robb Eric S. Moss. November 2009.
- PEER 2009/104 Advanced Implementation of Hybrid Simulation. Andreas H. Schellenberg, Stephen A. Mahin, Gregory L. Fenves. November 2009.
- PEER 2009/103 Performance Evaluation of Innovative Steel Braced Frames. T. Y. Yang, Jack P. Moehle, and Božidar Stojadinovic. August 2009.
- **PEER 2009/102** Reinvestigation of Liquefaction and Nonliquefaction Case Histories from the 1976 Tangshan Earthquake. Robb Eric Moss, Robert E. Kayen, Liyuan Tong, Songyu Liu, Guojun Cai, and Jiaer Wu. August 2009.
- PEER 2009/101 Report of the First Joint Planning Meeting for the Second Phase of NEES/E-Defense Collaborative Research on Earthquake Engineering. Stephen A. Mahin et al. July 2009.
- PEER 2008/104 Experimental and Analytical Study of the Seismic Performance of Retaining Structures. Linda Al Atik and Nicholas Sitar. January 2009.
- PEER 2008/103 Experimental and Computational Evaluation of Current and Innovative In-Span Hinge Details in Reinforced Concrete Box-Girder Bridges. Part 1: Experimental Findings and Pre-Test Analysis. Matias A. Hube and Khalid M. Mosalam. January 2009.
- PEER 2008/102 Modeling of Unreinforced Masonry Infill Walls Considering In-Plane and Out-of-Plane Interaction. Stephen Kadysiewski and Khalid M. Mosalam. January 2009.
- PEER 2008/101 Seismic Performance Objectives for Tall Buildings. William T. Holmes, Charles Kircher, William Petak, and Nabih Youssef. August 2008.
- PEER 2007/101 Generalized Hybrid Simulation Framework for Structural Systems Subjected to Seismic Loading. Tarek Elkhoraibi and Khalid M. Mosalam. July 2007.
- PEER 2007/100 Seismic Evaluation of Reinforced Concrete Buildings Including Effects of Masonry Infill Walls. Alidad Hashemi and Khalid M. Mosalam. July 2007.

The Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center (PEER) is a multi-institutional research and education center with headquarters at the University of California, Berkeley. Investigators from over 20 universities, several consulting companies, and researchers at various state and federal government agencies contribute to research programs focused on performance-based earthquake engineering.

These research programs aim to identify and reduce the risks from major earthquakes to life safety and to the economy by including research in a wide variety of disciplines including structural and geotechnical engineering, geology/seismology, lifelines, transportation, architecture, economics, risk management, and public policy.

PEER is supported by federal, state, local, and regional agencies, together with industry partners.



PEER Core Institutions: University of California, Berkeley (Lead Institution) California Institute of Technology Oregon State University Stanford University University of California, Davis University of California, Irvine University of California, Irvine University of California, Los Angeles University of California, San Diego University of Southern California University of Washington

PEER reports can be ordered at http://peer.berkeley.edu/publications/peer_reports.html or by contacting

Pacific Earthquake Engineering Research Center University of California, Berkeley 325 Davis Hall, mail code 1792 Berkeley, CA 94720-1792 Tel: 510-642-3437 Fax: 510-642-1655 Email: peer_editor@berkeley.edu

ISSN 1547-0587X